






CASE NO. 2024-04 AND CASE NO. 2024-05 

DOCUMENTS FOR BOTH APPLICATIONS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 





































One Lithonia Way • Conyers, Georgia 30012 • Phone: 1-800-705-SERV (7378) • www.acuitybrands.com
© 2018-2023 Acuity Brands Lighting, Inc. All rights reserved. 

Lithonia RSX1 Area LED
Rev. 06/27/23

Page 1 of 9

COMMERCIAL OUTDOOR

RSX1 LED
Area Luminaire

Specifications

Catalog 
Number

Notes

Type

Introduction
The new RSX LED Area family delivers maximum 
value by providing significant energy savings, long 
life and outstanding photometric performance at an 
affordable price. The RSX1 delivers 7,000 to 17,000 
lumens allowing it to replace 70W to 400W HID 
luminaires.
The RSX features an integral universal mounting 
mechanism that allows the luminaire to be mounted 
on most existing drill hole patterns. This “no-drill” 
solution provides significant labor savings. An 
easy-access door on the bottom of mounting arm 
allows for wiring without opening the electrical 
compartment. A mast arm adaptor, adjustable 
integral slipfitter and other mounting configurations 
are available.

EPA 
(ft2@0°):

0.57 ft2 (0.05 m2)

Length: 21.8” (55.4 cm)
(SPA mount)

Width: 13.3” (33.8 cm)

Height: 3.0" (7.6 cm) Main Body
7.2” (18.4 cm) Arm

Weight: 
(SPA mount):

22.0 lbs (10.0 kg)

Hit the Tab key or mouse over the page to see all interactive elements.

 L 

 W 

 H 

Options Finish

Shipped Installed
HS House-side shield 7

PE Photocontrol, button style 8,9

PER7 Seven-wire twist-lock receptacle only (no controls) 9,10,11

SF Single fuse (120, 277, 347) 5

DF Double fuse (208, 240, 480) 5

SPD20KV 20KV Surge pack (10KV standard)
FAO Field adjustable output 9

DMG 0-10V dimming extend out back of housing for external
control (control ordered separate) 9

Shipped Installed
*Standalone and Networked Sensors/Controls (factory default settings, see table page 9)
NLTAIR2 PIRHN nLight AIR generation 2, with Networked, Bi-Level motion/ambient sensor 9, 12, 13, 14

BAA Buy America(n) Act Compliant
CCE Coastal Construction15

*Note: NLTAIR2 PIRHN with nLight Air can be used as a standalone or networked solution. Sensor 
coverage pattern is affected when luminaire is tilted.

Shipped Separately (requires some field assembly)
EGS External glare shield 7

EGFV External glare full visor (360° around light aperture) 7

BS Bird spikes 16

DDBXD Dark Bronze
DBLXD Black
DNAXD Natural Aluminum
DWHXD White
DDBTXD Textured Dark Bronze
DBLBXD Textured Black
DNATXD Textured Natural Aluminum
DWHGXD Textured White

WW

Ordering Information EXAMPLE: RSX1 LED P4 40K R3 MVOLT SPA DDBXD

RSX1 LED

Series Performance 
Package 

Color 
Temperature Distribution Voltage Mounting

RSX1 LED P1
P2
P3
P4

30K 3000K
40K 4000K
50K 5000K 

R2 Type 2 Wide
R3 Type 3 Wide
R3S Type 3 Short
R4 Type 4 Wide
R4S Type 4 Short
R5 Type 5 Wide 1

R5S Type 5 Short 1

AFR Automotive Front Row
AFRR90 Automotive Front Row 

Right Rotated 
AFRL90 Automotive Front Row 

Left Rotated

MVOLT (120V-277V) 2

HVOLT (347V-480V) 3

XVOLT (277V-480V) 4

(use specific voltage for 
options as noted)
120 3 277 5

208 3 347 5

240 3 480 5

SPA Square pole mounting (3.0" min. SQ pole for 1 at 90°, 3.5" min. SQ pole for 2, 3, 4 at 90°)
RPA Round pole mounting (3.2" min. dia. RND pole for 2, 3, 4 at 90°, 3.0" min. dia. RND pole 

for 1 at 90°, 2 at 180°, 3 at 120°)
MA Mast arm adaptor (fits 2-3/8" OD horizontal tenon)
IS Adjustable slipfitter (fits 2-3/8" OD tenon) 6

WBA Wall bracket 1

WBASC Wall bracket with surface conduit box
AASP Adjustable tilt arm square pole mounting 6

AARP Adjustable tilt arm round pole mounting 6

AAWB Adjustable tilt arm with wall bracket 6

AAWSC Adjustable tilt arm wall bracket and surface conduit box 6

http://www.acuitybrands.com
https://www.acuitybrands.com/resources/buy-american


One Lithonia Way • Conyers, Georgia 30012 • Phone: 1-800-705-SERV (7378) • www.acuitybrands.com
© 2018-2023 Acuity Brands Lighting, Inc. All rights reserved. 

Lithonia RSX1 Area LED
Rev. 06/27/23

Page 2 of 9

COMMERCIAL OUTDOOR

Ordering Information

NOTES
1 Any Type 5 distribution, is not available with WBA.

2 MVOLT driver operates on any line voltage from 120-277V (50/60 Hz).
3 HVOLT driver operates on any line voltage from 347-480V (50/60 Hz).
4 XVOLT driver not available with P1 or P2. XVOLT driver operates on any 

line voltage from 277V-480V (50/60 Hz). XVOLT not available with fusing 
(SF or DF) and not available with PE. 

5 Single fuse (SF) requires 120V, 277V or 347V. Double fuse (DF) requires 
208V, 240V or 480V.

6 Maximum tilt is 90° above horizontal.
7 It may be ordered as an accessory.
8 Requires MVOLT or 347V.
9 Two or more of the following options cannot be combined including PE, 

DMG, PER7, FAO and NLTAIR2 PIRHN. (Exception: PE and FAO can be 
combined; also PE and DMG can be combined.)

10 Compatible with standard twist-lock photocells for dusk to dawn 
operation or advanced control nodes that provide 0-10V dimming 

signals. Wire 4/Wire 5 wired to dimming leads on driver. Wire6/Wire7 
capped inside luminaire.  Twistlock photocell ordered and shipped 
as a separate line item from Acuity Brands Controls. See accessories. 
Shorting Cap included.

11 For units with option PER7, the mounting must be restricted to +/- 45° 
from horizontal aim per ANSI C136.10-2010.

12 Must be ordered with PIRHN.
13 Requires MVOLT or HVOLT.
14 Must be ordered with NLTAIR2. For additional information on PIRHN 

visit here.
15 CCE option not available with WBA, WBASC, AASP, AARP, AAWB, 

AAWBSC, EGS, EGFV and BS.
16 Must be ordered with fixture for factory pre-drilling.
17 Requires luminaire to be specified with PER7 option. Ordered and 

shipped as a separate line item from Acuity Brands Controls.

Accessories
Ordered and shipped separately. 

House Side Shield External Glare Shield External 360 Full Visor

RSX1HS RSX1 House side shield (includes 1 shield)
RSX1HSAFRR U RSX1 House side shield for AFR rotated optics (includes 1 shield)
RSX1EGS (FINISH) U External glares hield (specify finish)
RSX1EGFV (FINISH) U External glare full visor (specify finish)
RSXRPA (FINISH) U RSX Universal round pole adaptor plate (specify finish) 
RSXWBA (FINISH) U   RSX WBA wall bracket (specify finish) 1

RSXSCB (FINISH) U RSX Surface conduit box (specify finish, for use with WBA, WBA not included) 
DLL127F 1.5 JU Photocell -SSL twist-lock (120-277V) 17

DLL347F 1.5 CUL JU Photocell -SSL twist-lock (347V) 17

DLL480F 1.5 CUL JU Photocell -SSL twist-lock (480V) 17

DSHORT SBK U Shorting cap 17

External Shields

Pole/Mounting Informatiion

HANDHOLE ORIENTATION

A
Handhole

B

C

D

Accessories including bullhorns, cross arms and other adpaters are available under the accessories tab at Lithonia's Outdoor Poles and Arms product page.  
Click here to visit Accessories.

RSX1 - Luminaire EPA

Fixture Quantity & Mounting 
Configuration Single 2 @ 90 2 @ 180 3 @ 90 3 @ 120 4 @ 90 2 Side  

by Side
3 Side  

by Side
4 Side  

by Side

Mounting Type Tilt

SPA - Square Pole Adaptor
0 °

0.57 1.03 1.05 1.52 1.36 2.03 1.31 1.7 2.26
RPA - Round Pole Adaptor 0.62 1.08 1.15 1.62 1.46 2.13 1.36 1.8 2.36
MA - Mast Arm Adaptor 0.49 0.95 0.89 1.36 1.2 1.87 1.23 1.54 2.1

IS - Integral Slipfitter                                                                                                   
AASP/AARP - Adjustable 
Arm Square/Round Pole

0 ° 0.57 1.03 1.05 1.52 1.36 2.03 1.31 1.7 2.26
10° 0.68 1.34 1.33 2 1.74 2.64 1.35 2.03 2.71
20° 0.87 1.71 1.73 2.56 2.26 3.42 1.75 2.62 3.49
30° 1.24 2.19 2.3 3.21 2.87 4.36 2.49 3.73 4.97
40° 1.81 2.68 2.98 3.85 3.68 5.30 3.62 5.43 7.24
45° 2.11 2.92 3.44 4.2 4.08 5.77 4.22 6.33 8.44
50° 2.31 3.17 3.72 4.52 4.44 6.26 4.62 6.94 9.25
60° 2.71 3.66 4.38 5.21 5.15 7.24 5.43 8.14 10.86
70° 2.78 3.98 4.54 5.67 5.47 7.91 5.52 8.27 11.03
80° 2.76 4.18 4.62 5.97 5.76 8.31 5.51 8.27 11.03
90° 2.73 4.25 4.64 6.11 5.91 8.47 5.45 8.18 10.97

*Includes luminaire and integral mounting arm.  Other tenons, arms, brackets or other accessories are not included in this EPA data.Top of Pole

0.563”

2.650”

1.325”
0.400”
(2 PLCS)

Template #8

RSX POLE DRILLING

RSX STANDARD ARM & ADJUSTABLE ARM

5.25”

2.65”

Drilling Template Mounting Option Single 2 @ 180 2 @ 90 3 @ 120 3 @ 90 4 @ 90

Head Location Side B Side B & D Side B & C Round Pole Only Side B, C & D Side A, B, C & D

#8 Drill Nomenclature DM19AS DM28AS DM29AS DM32AS DM39AS DM49AS

Tenon O.D. RSX Mounting Single 2 at 180° 2 at 90° 3 at 120° 3 at 90° 4 at 90°

2 - 3/8" RPA, AARP AS3-5 190 AS3-5 280 AS3-5 290 AS3-5 320 AS3-5 390 AS3-5 490

2 - 7/8" RPA, AARP AST25-190 AST25-280  AST25-290 AST25-320 AST25-390 AST25-490

4" RPA, AARP AST35-190 AST35-280 AST35-290 AST35-320 AST35-390 AST35-490

Round Tenon Mount - Pole Top Slipfitters

Drill/Side Location by Configuration Type

http://www.acuitybrands.com
https://www.acuitybrands.com/products/detail/817178/nLight/rSDGR/-/media/products/nLight/817178/document/rSDGR_pdf.pdf
https://www.acuitybrands.com/products/lighting/outdoor/poles-and-arms#c4fccc7e-7568-4942-aa27-0a1497c73bcf)


One Lithonia Way • Conyers, Georgia 30012 • Phone: 1-800-705-SERV (7378) • www.acuitybrands.com
© 2018-2023 Acuity Brands Lighting, Inc. All rights reserved. 

Lithonia RSX1 Area LED
Rev. 06/27/23

Page 3 of 9

COMMERCIAL OUTDOOR

Performance Data

Lumen Ambient Temperature
(LAT) Multipliers
Use these factors to determine relative lumen output for  
average ambient temperatures from 0-50°C (32-122°F).

Ambient Ambient Lumen Multiplier

0°C 32°F 1.05

5°C 41°F 1.04

10°C 50°F 1.03

15°C 59°F 1.02

20°C 68°F 1.01

25°C 77°F 1.00

30°C 86°F 0.99

35°C 95°F 0.98

40°C 104°F 0.97

45°C 113°F 0.96

50°C 122°F 0.95

Current (A)

Performance Package System Watts (W) 120V 208V 240V 277V 347V 480V
P1 51W 0.42 0.25 0.21 0.19 0.14 0.11
P2 72W 0.60 0.35 0.30 0.26 0.21 0.15
P3 109W 0.91 0.52 0.45 0.39 0.31 0.23
P4 133W 1.11 0.64 0.55 0.48 0.38 0.27

Electrical Load

Values calculated according to IESNA TM-21-11 methodology and valid up to 40°C.

Operating Hours 50,000 75,000 100,000

Lumen Maintenance Factor >0.97 >0.95 >0.92

Projected LED Lumen Maintenance

To see complete photometric reports or download .ies files for this product, visit Lithonia Lighting’s RSX Area homepage. Photometric Diagrams

Isofootcandle plots for the RSX1 LED P4 40K. Distances are in units of mounting height (20’).

4

3

2

1

0

-4

-3

-2

-1

4 3 2 1 0 4321

4

3

2

1

0

-4

-3

-2

-1

4 3 2 1 0 4321

4

3

2

1

0

-4

-3

-2

-1

4 3 2 1 0 4321

4

3

2

1

0

-4

-3

-2

-1

4 3 2 1 0 4321

R3R3 R4R4 R5R5R2R2

LEGEND

0.1 fc

0.5 fc

1.0 fc

1.0 fc

4

3

2

1

0

-4

-3

-2

-1

4 3 2 1 0 4321

AFRAFR

4

3

2

1

0

-4

-3

-2

-1

4 3 2 1 0 4321

Visual - Template Tool 

These lighting calculation results are for general informational purposes only and are provided without warranty as to accuracy, completeness, reliability or 
otherwise. Results are based on user provided data and data provided from publicly available sources; actual field conditions may affect calculated output. Visit 
www.Visual-3D.com . 

Design Information 
Project 
Description 

Monday, July 29, 2019 
Name 
Company 
Phone 
Email 

[ B ] - RSX2 LED P6 40K AFRL90
Manufacturer Lithonia Lighting Configuration Single
Lamp Lumens 30752 Orientation Single
Lamp Quantity 1 Mounting Height 30
Light Loss Factor 1 Arm Length 1
Input Power 246.6 Tilt 0
Max Illuminance 15 Area > 0.5fc 8044

Page 1 of 1Template Print

7/29/2019http://www.visual-3d.com/tools/template/Print.aspx?SessionID=3885952

AFRL90AFRL90

4

3

2

1

0

-4

-3

-2

-1

4 3 2 1 0 4321

Visual - Template Tool 

These lighting calculation results are for general informational purposes only and are provided without warranty as to accuracy, completeness, reliability or 
otherwise. Results are based on user provided data and data provided from publicly available sources; actual field conditions may affect calculated output. Visit 
www.Visual-3D.com . 

Design Information 
Project 
Description 

Monday, July 29, 2019 
Name 
Company 
Phone 
Email 

[ A ] - RSX2 LED P6 40K AFRR90
Manufacturer Lithonia Lighting Configuration Single
Lamp Lumens 30623 Orientation Single
Lamp Quantity 1 Mounting Height 30
Light Loss Factor 1 Arm Length 1
Input Power 246.6 Tilt 0
Max Illuminance 14 Area > 0.5fc 8325

Page 1 of 1Template Print

7/29/2019http://www.visual-3d.com/tools/template/Print.aspx?SessionID=3885952

AFRR90AFRR90

http://www.acuitybrands.com


One Lithonia Way • Conyers, Georgia 30012 • Phone: 1-800-705-SERV (7378) • www.acuitybrands.com
© 2018-2023 Acuity Brands Lighting, Inc. All rights reserved. 

Lithonia RSX1 Area LED
Rev. 06/27/23

Page 4 of 9

COMMERCIAL OUTDOOR

Performance Data

Performance 
Package System Watts

Distribution.
Type

30K 
(3000K, 70 CRI)

40K 
(4000K, 70 CRI)

50K 
(5000K, 70 CRI)

Lumens B U G LPW Lumens B U G LPW Lumens B U G LPW

P1 51W

R2 6,482 1 0 1 126 7,121 1 0 1 139 7,121 1 0 1 139
R3 6,459 1 0 2 127 7,096 1 0 2 139 7,096 1 0 2 139

R3S 6,631 1 0 1 129 7,286 1 0 2 142 7,286 1 0 2 142
R4 6,543 1 0 2 128 7,189 1 0 2 141 7,189 1 0 2 141

R4S 6,313 1 0 1 124 6,936 1 0 1 136 6,936 1 0 1 136
R5 6,631 3 0 2 130 7,286 3 0 2 143 7,286 3 0 2 143

R5S 6,807 3 0 1 133 7,479 3 0 1 147 7,479 3 0 1 147
AFR 6,473 1 0 1 127 7,112 1 0 1 139 7,112 1 0 1 139

AFRR90 6,535 2 0 2 127 7,179 2 0 2 140 7,179 2 0 2 140
AFRL90 6,562 2 0 1 128 7,210 2 0 2 140 7,210 2 0 2 140

P2 72W

R2 8,991 2 0 1 123 9,878 2 0 1 135 9,878 2 0 1 135
R3 8,959 2 0 2 124 9,843 2 0 2 137 9,843 2 0 2 137

R3S 9,198 2 0 2 126 10,106 2 0 2 139 10,106 2 0 2 139
R4 9,077 2 0 2 126 9,972 2 0 2 139 9,972 2 0 2 139

R4S 8,757 1 0 2 122 9,622 2 0 2 134 9,622 2 0 2 134
R5 9,198 4 0 2 128 10,106 4 0 2 140 10,106 4 0 2 140

R5S 9,443 3 0 1 131 10,374 3 0 1 144 10,374 3 0 1 144
AFR 8,979 2 0 1 125 9,865 2 0 1 137 9,865 2 0 1 137

AFRR90 9,064 3 0 2 124 9,959 3 0 2 137 9,959 3 0 2 137
AFRL90 9,102 3 0 2 125 10,001 3 0 2 137 10,001 3 0 2 137

P3 109W

R2 12,808 2 0 1 117 14,072 2 0 2 129 14,072 2 0 2 129
R3 12,763 2 0 2 117 14,023 2 0 2 129 14,023 2 0 2 129

R3S 13,104 2 0 2 120 14,397 2 0 2 132 14,397 2 0 2 132
R4 12,930 2 0 2 119 14,206 2 0 2 130 14,206 2 0 2 130

R4S 12,475 2 0 2 114 13,707 2 0 2 126 13,707 2 0 2 126
R5 13,104 4 0 2 120 14,397 4 0 2 132 14,397 4 0 2 132

R5S 13,452 3 0 2 123 14,779 3 0 2 136 14,779 3 0 2 136
AFR 12,791 2 0 1 117 14,053 2 0 2 129 14,053 2 0 2 129

AFRR90 12,913 3 0 3 118 14,187 3 0 3 130 14,187 3 0 3 130
AFRL90 12,967 3 0 2 118 14,247 3 0 3 130 14,247 3 0 3 130

P4 133W

R2 14,943 2 0 2 112 16,417 2 0 2 123 16,417 2 0 2 123
R3 14,890 2 0 3 112 16,360 2 0 3 123 16,360 2 0 3 123

R3S 15,287 2 0 2 115 16,796 2 0 2 126 16,796 2 0 2 126
R4 15,085 2 0 3 113 16,574 2 0 3 125 16,574 2 0 3 125

R4S 14,554 2 0 2 109 15,991 2 0 2 120 15,991 2 0 2 120
R5 15,287 4 0 2 115 16,796 4 0 2 126 16,796 4 0 2 126

R5S 15,693 4 0 2 118 17,242 4 0 2 130 17,242 4 0 2 130
AFR 14,923 2 0 2 112 16,395 2 0 2 123 16,395 2 0 2 123

AFRR90 15,065 3 0 3 113 16,551 3 0 3 124 16,551 3 0 3 124
AFRL90 15,128 3 0 3 114 16,621 3 0 3 125 16,621 3 0 3 125

Lumen Output
Lumen values are from photometric tests performed in accordance with IESNA LM-79-08. Data is considered to be representative of the configurations shown, within the tolerances allowed by Lighting 
Facts. Contact factory for performance data on any configurations not shown here.

http://www.acuitybrands.com


One Lithonia Way • Conyers, Georgia 30012 • Phone: 1-800-705-SERV (7378) • www.acuitybrands.com
© 2018-2023 Acuity Brands Lighting, Inc. All rights reserved. 

Lithonia RSX1 Area LED
Rev. 06/27/23

Page 5 of 9

COMMERCIAL OUTDOOR

Dimensions & Weights

 L 

 W 

 H 

Length: 22.8” (57.9 cm)
Width:  13.3” (33.8 cm)
Height:  3.0” (7.6 cm) Main Body
             7.2” (18.4 cm) Arm 

RSX1 with Round Pole Adapter (RPA)

Note: RPA — Round Pole mount can also be 
used to mount on square poles by omitting 
the round pole adapter plate shown here. 

 L 

 W 

 H 

Length: 23.2” (59.1 cm)
Width:  13.3” (33.8 cm)
Height:  3.0” (7.6 cm) Main Body
             3.5” (8.9 cm) Arm 

RSX1 with Mast Arm Adapter (MA)

7/16" locking thru bolt/nut provided

 L 

 W 

 H 

Length: 20.7” (52.7 cm)
Width:  13.3” (33.8 cm)
Height:  3.0” (7.6 cm) Main Body
             7.6” (19.3 cm) Arm 

RSX1 with Adjustable Slipfitter (IS)

7/8" KO - fits 1/2" NPT water- tight fitting

Luminaire Weight by Mounting Type

Mounting Configuration Total Luminaire Weight
SPA 22 lbs

RPA 24 lbs

MA 22 lbs

WBA 25 lbs

WBASC 28 lbs

IS 25 lbs

AASP 25 lbs

AARP 27 lbs

AAWB 28 lbs

AAWSC 31 lbs

http://www.acuitybrands.com


One Lithonia Way • Conyers, Georgia 30012 • Phone: 1-800-705-SERV (7378) • www.acuitybrands.com
© 2018-2023 Acuity Brands Lighting, Inc. All rights reserved. 

Lithonia RSX1 Area LED
Rev. 06/27/23

Page 6 of 9

COMMERCIAL OUTDOOR

Dimensions

L 

W H 

Length: 23.6" (59.9 cm) 
Width:  13.3” (33.8 cm)
Height: 3.0” (7.6 cm) Main Body
             8.9” (22.6 cm) Arm 

RSX1 with Wall Bracket (WBA)

Wall Bracket (WBA) Mounting Detail

4.5

7.0

L 

W H 

Length: 25.3” (64.3 cm)
Width:  13.3” (33.8 cm)
Height: 3.0” (7.6 cm) Main Body
             9.2” (23.4 cm) Arm 

RSX1 with Wall Bracket with Surface Conduit Box (WBASC)

3/4" NPT taps with plugs - Qty (4) provided

Surface Conduit Box (SCB) Mounting Detail
4.4

7.0

http://www.acuitybrands.com


One Lithonia Way • Conyers, Georgia 30012 • Phone: 1-800-705-SERV (7378) • www.acuitybrands.com
© 2018-2023 Acuity Brands Lighting, Inc. All rights reserved. 

Lithonia RSX1 Area LED
Rev. 06/27/23

Page 7 of 9

COMMERCIAL OUTDOOR

Dimensions

L 

W 
H 

Length: 25.3” (65.3 cm) AASP 
             26.3” (66.8 cm) AARP
Width:  13.3” (33.8 cm)
Height: 3.0” (7.6 cm) Main Body
             7.2” (18.2 cm) Arm 

RSX1 with Adjustable Tilt Arm - Square or Round Pole (AASP or AARP)

NOTE:
RPA - Round Pole mount can also be used 
to mount on square poles by omitting the 
round pole adapter plate shown here. 

7/8" KO - fits 1/2" NPT water- tight fitting

Notes
AASP: Requires 3.0" min. square pole for 1 at 90°. Requires 3.5" min. square pole for mounting 2, 3, 4 at 90°.  

AARP:  Requires 3.2" min. dia. round pole for 2, 3, 4 at 90°. Requires 3.0" min. dia. round pole for mounting 1 at 90°, 2 at 180°, 3 at 120°.

L 

W 
H 

Length: 27.1” (68.8 cm)
Width:  13.3” (33.8 cm)
Height: 3.0” (7.6 cm) Main Body
             8.9” (22.6 cm) Arm 

RSX1 with Adjustable Tilt Arm with Wall Bracket (AAWB)

Wall Bracket (WBA) Mounting Detail

4.5

7.0

7/8" KO - fits 1/2" NPT water- tight fitting

http://www.acuitybrands.com


One Lithonia Way • Conyers, Georgia 30012 • Phone: 1-800-705-SERV (7378) • www.acuitybrands.com
© 2018-2023 Acuity Brands Lighting, Inc. All rights reserved. 

Lithonia RSX1 Area LED
Rev. 06/27/23

Page 8 of 9

COMMERCIAL OUTDOOR

Dimensions

L 

W H 

Length: 28.8” (73.2 cm)
Width:  13.3” (33.8 cm)
Height: 3.0” (7.6 cm) Main Body
             9.2” (23.4 cm) Arm 

RSX1 with Adjustable Tilt Arm with Wall Bracket and Surface Conduit Box (AAWSC)

Surface Conduit Box (SCB) Mounting Detail
4.4

7.0

3/4" NPT taps  
with plugs - Qty (4) 
provided

7/8" KO - fits 1/2" NPT water- tight fitting

Automotive Front Row - Rotated Optics (AFRL90/R90)

AFRR90 AFRL90

(Example: 2@180 - arrows indicate direction of light exiting the luminaire)

http://www.acuitybrands.com


One Lithonia Way • Conyers, Georgia 30012 • Phone: 1-800-705-SERV (7378) • www.acuitybrands.com
© 2018-2023 Acuity Brands Lighting, Inc. All rights reserved. 

Lithonia RSX1 Area LED
Rev. 06/27/23

Page 9 of 9

COMMERCIAL OUTDOOR

FEATURES & SPECIFICATIONS

 INTENDED USE 
The RSX LED area family is designed to provide a long-lasting, energy-efficient solution for the one-
for-one replacement of existing metal halide or high pressure sodium lighting. The RSX1 delivers 7,000 
to 17,000 lumens and is ideal for replacing 70W to 400W HID pole-mounted luminaires in parking lots 
and other area lighting applications.

 CONSTRUCTION 
The RSX LED area luminaire features a rugged die-cast aluminum main body that uses heat-
dissipating fins and flow-through venting to provide optimal thermal management that both 
enhances LED performance and extends component life.  Integral “no drill” mounting arm allows 
the luminaire to be mounted on existing pole drillings, greatly reducing installation labor. The 
light engines and housing are sealed against moisture and environmental contaminants to IP66. 
The low-profile design results in a low EPA, allowing pole optimization. All mountings are rated for 
minimum 1.5 G vibration load per ANSI C136.31. 3G Mountings: Include SPA, RPA, MA, IS, AASP, 
and AARP rated for 3G vibration. 1.5G Mountings: Include WBA, WBASC, AAWB and AAWSC 
rated for 1.5G vibration.

 FINISH 
Exterior parts are protected by a zinc-infused Super Durable TGIC thermoset powder coat finish 
that provides superior resistance to corrosion and weathering. A tightly controlled multi-stage 
process ensures superior adhesion as well as a minimum finish thickness of 3 mils. The result is a 
high-quality finish that is warrantied not to crack or peel.

 COASTAL CONSTRUCTION (CCE) 
ptional corrosion resistant construction is engineered with added corrosion rotection in materials 
and/or pre-treatment of base material under superÝurable paint. Provides additional corrosion 
protection for applications nearÜoastal areas. Finish is salt spray tested to over 5,000 hours per 
ASTM B117 with cribe rating of 10. Additional lead-times apply.

 OPTICS 
Precision acrylic refractive lenses are engineered for superior application efficiency, distributing 
the light to where it is needed most. Available in short and wide pattern distributions including 
Type 2, Type 3, Type 3S, Type 4, Type 4S, Type 5, Type 5S, AFR (Automotive Front Row), and AFR 
rotated AFRR90 and ARFL90.

 ELECTRICAL 
Light engine(s) configurations consist of high-efficacy LEDs mounted on metal-core circuit boards 
and aluminum heat sinks to maximize heat dissipation. Light engines are IP66 rated. LED lumen 
maintenance is >L92/100,000 hours. CCT’s of 3000K, 4000K and 5000K (minimum 70 CRI) are 
available. Fixtures ship standard with 0-10v dimming driver.  Class 1 electronic drivers ensure 
system power factor >90% and THD <20%. Easily serviceable 10kV surge protection device meets 
a minimum Category C Low operation (per ANSI/IEEE C62.41.2).

 STANDARD CONTROLS 
The RSX LED area luminaire has a wide assortment of control options. Dusk to dawn controls 
include MVOLT and 347V button-type photocells and NEMA twist-lock photocell receptacles. 

 nLIGHT AIR CONTROLS 
The RSX LED area luminaire is also available with nLight® AIR for the ultimate in wireless 
control. This powerful controls platform provides out-of-the-box basic motion sensing 
with photocontrol functionality and is suitable for mounting heights up to 40 feet. No 
commissioning is required when using factory default settings that provide basic stand-alone 
motion occupancy dimming that is switched on and off with a built-in photocell. See chart 
above for motion sensor default out-of-box settings. For more advanced wireless functionality, 
such as group dimming, nLight AIR can be commissioned using a smartphone and the easy-to-
use CLAIRITY app. nLight AIR equipped luminaries can be grouped, resulting in motion sensor 
and photocell group response without the need for additional equipment. Scheduled dimming 
with motion sensor over-ride can be achieved when used with the nLight Eclypse. Additional 
information about nLight Air can be found here.

 INSTALLATION 
Integral “no-drill” mounting arm allows for fast, easy mounting using existing pole drillings. 
Select the “SPA” option for square poles and the “RPA” option to mount to round poles. Note, 
the RPA mount can also be used for mounting to square poles by omitting the RPA adapter 
plate. Select the “MA” option to attach the luminaire to a 2 3/8” horizontal mast arm or the 
“IS” option for an adjustable slipfitter that mounts on a 2 3/8” OD tenon. The adjustable 
slipfitter has an integral junction box and offers easy installation. Can be tilted up to 90° above 
horizontal. Additional mountings are available including a wall bracket, adjustable tilt arm for 
direct-to-pole and wall and a surface conduit box for wall mount applications.

 LISTINGS 
CSA Certified to meet U.S. and Canadian standards. Suitable for wet locations. Rated for 
-40°C minimum ambient. DesignLights Consortium® (DLC) Premium qualified product and 
DLC qualified product. Not all versions of this product may be DLC Premium qualified or DLC 
qualified. Please check the DLC Qualified Products List at www.designlights.org/QPL to confirm 
which versions are qualified. 
International Dark-Sky Association (IDA) Fixture Seal of Approval (FSA) is available for all 
products on this page utilizing 3000K color temperature only. U.S. Patent No. D882, 146S

 BUY AMERICAN ACT 
Product with the BAA option is assembled in the USA and meets the Buy America(n) 
government procurement requirements under FAR, DFARS and DOT regulations.  
Please refer to www.acuitybrands.com/buy-american for additional information.

 WARRANTY 
5-year limited warranty. This is the only warranty provided and no other statements in this 
specification sheet create any warranty of any kind. All other express and implied warranties are 
disclaimed. Complete warranty terms located at:  
www.acuitybrands.com/support/warranty/terms-and-conditions

 Note: Actual performance may differ as a result of end-user environment and application. 
All values are design or typical values, measured under laboratory conditions at 25 °C. 
Specifications subject to change without notice.

nLight Control - Sensor Coverage and Settings

Motion Sensor Default Settings - Option PIRHN

 
Option

Dimmed State  
(unoccupied)

High Level  
(when occupied)

Photocell  
Operation

Dwell Time  
(occupancy time delay)

Ramp-up Time  
(from unoccupied to occupied)

Ramp-down Time  
(from occupied to unoccupied)

NLTAIR2 PIRHN Approx. 30% Output 100% Output Enabled @ 1.5FC 7.5 minutes 3 seconds 5 minutes

nLight Sensor Coverage Pattern
NLTAIR2 PIRHN

Top Side

*Note: NLTAIR2 PIRHN default settings including photocell set-point, high/low dim rates, and occupancy sensor time delay are all configurable using the Clairity Pro App.  
Sensor coverage pattern shown with luminaire at 0°. Sensor coverage pattern is affected when luminaire is titled. 

http://www.acuitybrands.com
https://www.acuitybrands.com/products/controls/nlightair
http://www.designlights.org/QPL
https://www.acuitybrands.com/resources/buy-american
http://www.acuitybrands.com/support/warranty/terms-and-conditions


 

Engineers Scientists Planners Designers 
101 Walnut Street, PO Box 9151, Watertown, Massachusetts 02471 
P  617.924.1770 F  617.924.2286 www.vhb.com 

\\gbldata\projects\Wat-TS\15934.00 Brewster Proposed ComDev\docs\memos\March 29 Update\Traffic Memo 3 29 24.docx 

To: Town of Brewster Date: March 29, 2024 
 

Project #: 15934.00 

    
From: Randall Hart, Principal Re: Proposed Commercial Development 

Traffic Assessment 

Introduction 

On behalf of the Proponent, Vanasse Hangen Brustlin, Inc. (VHB) has prepared a transportation assessment of the 
proposed Commercial Development to be located at 162 Underpass Road in Brewster, Massachusetts.  The following 
memo provides review of existing accident history along Underpass Road at the proposed site driveway and adjacent 
intersections, projections of traffic for the subdivision proposed, and review of site distance for the proposed driveway, 
future condition operational analyses of the driveway, and a proposed traffic demand management initiative for the 
site.    

Crash Summary 

A detailed crash analysis was conducted to identify potential vehicle accident trends and/or roadway deficiencies in 
the immediate area of the proposed site driveway.  The most current vehicle accident data for the traffic study area 
intersections were obtained from MassDOT for the years 2015 to 2020.  The MassDOT database is comprised of crash 
data from the Massachusetts Registry of Motor Vehicles (RMV) Division primarily for use in traffic studies and safety 
evaluations.  Data files are provided for an entire city or town for an entire year, though it is possible that some crash 
records may be omitted either due to individual crashes not being reported, or the city crash records not being 
provided in a compatible format for RMV use. 

Crash rates are calculated based on the number of accidents at an intersection and the volume of traffic traveling 
through that intersection on a daily basis.  Rates that exceed MassDOT’s average for accidents at intersections in the 
MassDOT district in which the town or city is located could indicate safety or geometric issues for a particular 
intersection.  For our study area, the calculated crash rates for the study area intersections were compared to the 
MassDOT District 5 (the MassDOT district for Brewster) average.  The current MassDOT average crash rate for 
unsignalized and signalized intersections in District 5 is 0.57 and 0.75 crashes per million entering vehicles, 
respectively.  In other words, on average, 0.57 crashes occurred per million vehicles entering unsignalized intersections 
throughout District 5. 

No crashes were reported at the intersections of Underpass Road at Sara Ann Lane, Underpass Road at Site Driveway, 
or on Underpass Road in between Sara Ann Lane and the Site Driveway.  

  



Town of Brewster 
Ref:  15934.00 
March 29, 2024 
Page 2 
 
 

\\gbldata\projects\Wat-TS\15934.00 Brewster Proposed ComDev\docs\memos\March 29 Update\Traffic Memo 3 29 24.docx 

Highway Safety Improvement Program 
In addition to calculating the crash rate, study area intersections should also be reviewed in the MassDOT’s Highway 
Safety Improvement Program (HSIP) database.  An HSIP-eligible cluster is one in which the total number of 
“equivalent property damage only“1 crashes in the area is within the top 5% of all clusters in that region.  Being HSIP-
eligible makes the location eligible for FHWA and MassDOT funds to address the identified safety issues at these 
locations.  As part of this effort, VHB reviewed this database and found that the intersections referenced above are not 
HSIP locations.   

Trip Generation 

The rate at which any development generates traffic is dependent upon a number of factors such as size, location, and 
concentration of surrounding developments.  The site is currently vacant.  The proposed development consists of two 
lots, each with one building.  The north lots building is proposed to have five contractor bays at 1,000 square feet 
each, and one single family attached apartment.  The south building is proposed to have three upstairs business units 
totaling 2,592 square feet and will be used for retail, business office and services or artist galleries.  There will be one 
downstairs unit containing a fast casual restaurant with 3,300 square feet or 75 seats.   

Trip generation estimates for the proposed use were projected using trip generation rates published by the Institute 
of Transportation Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation, 11th Edition2.  The number of vehicle-trips generated by the 
residential units were estimated based on ITE LUC 215 (Single-Family Attached Housing), the number of vehicle-trips 
generated by the restaurant were estimated based on ITE LUC 930 (Fast Casual Restaurant), and the number of 
vehicle-trips generated by the retail portion were estimated based on ITE LUC 822 (Strip Retail Plaza). The estimated 
trip generation for the proposed project is presented below in Table 1. 

 

 
1  “Equivalent property damage only” is a method of combining the number of crashes with the severity of the crashes based on a weighted 

scale. Crashes involving property damage only are reported at a minimal level of importance, while collisions involving personal injury (or 
fatalities) are weighted more heavily. 

2  Trip Generation, 11th Edition, Institute of Transportation Engineers, Washington D.C., 2021. 



Town of Brewster 
Ref:  15934.00 
March 29, 2024 
Page 3 
 
 

\\gbldata\projects\Wat-TS\15934.00 Brewster Proposed ComDev\docs\memos\March 29 Update\Traffic Memo 3 29 24.docx 

Table 1  Trip Generation Summary 

 

Residential 
Vehicle Trips 

a 

Retail 
Vehicle Trips 

b 

Fast Casual 
Restaurant 

Vehicle Trips 
c 

 
Contractor 

Bays 
d 

New Vehicle 
Trips 

      
Weekday 
Morning Peak 
Hour 

     

Enter - 4 2 6 12 
Exit 1 2 3 2 8 
Total 1 6 5 8 20 
      
Weekday 
Evening Peak 
Hour 

     

Enter 1 9 23 3 36 
Exit - 9 19 7 35 
Total 1 18 41 10 70 
      
Saturday 
Midday Peak 
Hour 

     

Enter - 9 59 6 74 
Exit 1 8 44 2 55 
Total 1 17 108 8 133 

a. Trip Generation estimate based ITE LUC 215 
(Single Family Attached Housing) for 1 unit. 

b. Trip Generation estimate based on ITE LUC 822 
Strip Retail Plaza (<40k) with 2,592 square feet. 

c. Trip Generation estimate based on ITE LUC 930 
Fast Casual Restaurant with 3,300 square feet. 

d. Five contractor bays 1,000 sf each based on ITE 
LUC .180 Specialty Contractor.  Data for Sat is 
not available, assumed AM peak volumes for 
that period (likely conservative) 

 

As shown in Table 1, the development is expected to generate approximately 20trips (12 entering/ 8 exiting) during 
the weekday morning peak hour, 70 trips (36 entering/ 35 exiting) during the evening peak hour, and 133 trips (67 
entering/ 55 exiting) during the Saturday midday peak hour.  As noted below, the project will include a transportation 
demand management program for the site which will attempt to reduce reliance on single occupancy motor vehicle 
access to the site.  While these initiatives are likely to lessen the actual traffic generation to the proposed facility, no 



Town of Brewster 
Ref:  15934.00 
March 29, 2024 
Page 4 
 
 

\\gbldata\projects\Wat-TS\15934.00 Brewster Proposed ComDev\docs\memos\March 29 Update\Traffic Memo 3 29 24.docx 

credit has been taken in the trip generation estimates or the operational analysis provided below.  This represents a 
conservative approach to reviewing potential project impacts. 

  



Town of Brewster 
Ref:  15934.00 
March 29, 2024 
Page 5 
 
 

\\gbldata\projects\Wat-TS\15934.00 Brewster Proposed ComDev\docs\memos\March 29 Update\Traffic Memo 3 29 24.docx 

Site Driveway Intersection Capacity Analysis 

VHB conducted capacity analyses at the site driveway for the 2025 Build Condition in order to analyze the Level of 
Service (LOS). A 2025 Build Condition was developed using February 2023 Automatic Traffic Recorder (ATR) data along 
Underpass Road for a weekday and adjusted to reflect peak summer traffic conditions for Cape Cod. Saturday ATR 
data was not previously collected along Underpass Road.  However, review of data at nearby permanent count 
stations on Route 124 (Harwich Road) south of Route 137, Route 137 (Long Pond Road) west of Route 124 (both 
approximately 1 mile southwest of the site) had both weekday and Saturday data which was reviewed.  Traffic counts 
for average weekdays were compared to Saturday counts in August 2023 from the permanent count stations, and it 
was determined that Saturday data was slightly lower than weekday data for both of these locations.  To provide a 
conservative LOS analysis for this project – weekday pm traffic data for Underpass Road was used as an estimate for 
Saturday midday traffic volumes at the driveway as the weekday data was observed to be higher than typical Saturday.  
This results in a highly conservative assessment of Saturday midday driveway operations.  The nearby permanent 
count station data is provided in the appendix for reference.  The 2023 data was then grown to 2025 to reflect a future 
build year. The ITE Trip Generation entering and exiting volumes were then added to the 2025 future build condition.  

The evaluation criteria used to analyze area intersections in this traffic study are based on the percentile delay method 
for signalized intersections and the Highway Capacity Manual (HCM), 6th Edition3 for unsignalized intersections. The 
term ‘Level of Service’ (LOS) is used to denote the different operating conditions that occur on a given roadway 
segment under various traffic volume loads. It is a qualitative measure that considers several factors including roadway 
geometry, speed, travel delay and freedom to maneuver. LOS provides an index to the operational qualities of a 
roadway segment or an intersection. LOS designations range from A to F, with LOS A representing the best operating 
conditions and LOS F representing the worst operating conditions. 

In addition to LOS, two other measures of effectiveness (MOEs) are typically used to quantify the traffic operations at 
intersections; volume-to-capacity ratio (v/c) and delay (expressed in seconds per vehicle). For example, an existing v/c 
ratio of 0.90 for an intersection indicates that the intersection is operating at 90-percent of its available capacity. A 
delay of 15 seconds for a particular vehicular movement or approach indicates that vehicles on the movement or 
approach will experience an average additional travel time of 15 seconds. For a given LOS letter designation there may 
be a wide range of values for both v/c ratios and delay. Comparison of intersection capacity results therefore requires 
that, in addition to the LOS, the other MOEs should also be considered. 

The LOS designations, which are based on delay, are reported differently for signalized and unsignalized intersections. 
For signalized intersections, the analysis considers the operation of all traffic entering the intersection and the 
LOS designation is for overall conditions at the intersection. For unsignalized intersections, however, the analysis 
assumes that traffic on the mainline is not affected by traffic on the side streets. Thus, the LOS designation is for the 
critical movement exiting the side street, which is generally the left turn out of the side street or site driveway. Table 2 
shows the LOS criteria for both signalized intersections and unsignalized intersections. 

It should be noted that the analytical methodologies typically used for the analysis of unsignalized intersections use 
conservative analysis parameters, such as long critical gaps. Actual field observations indicate that drivers on minor 
streets generally accept shorter gaps in traffic than those used in the analysis procedures and therefore experience 
less delay than reported by the analysis software. The analysis methodologies also do not fully take into account the 

 
3 Highway Capacity Manual, 6th Edition, Transportation Research Board, Washington, D.C., 2016. 



Town of Brewster 
Ref:  15934.00 
March 29, 2024 
Page 6 
 
 

\\gbldata\projects\Wat-TS\15934.00 Brewster Proposed ComDev\docs\memos\March 29 Update\Traffic Memo 3 29 24.docx 

beneficial grouping effects caused by nearby signalized intersections. The net effect of these analysis procedures is the 
over-estimation of calculated delays at unsignalized intersections in the study area. Cautious judgment should 
therefore be exercised when interpreting the capacity analysis results at unsignalized intersections. 

  



Town of Brewster 
Ref:  15934.00 
March 29, 2024 
Page 7 
 
 

\\gbldata\projects\Wat-TS\15934.00 Brewster Proposed ComDev\docs\memos\March 29 Update\Traffic Memo 3 29 24.docx 

 

Table 2 Level-of-Service Criteria 

Level of Service Delay – Signalized Intersection Delay – Unsignalized Intersection 
A 0 to 10 seconds 0 to 10 seconds 
B 10 to 20 seconds 10 to 15 seconds 
C 20 to 35 seconds 15 to 25 seconds 
D 35 to 55 seconds 25 to 35 seconds 
E 55 to 80 seconds 35 to 50 seconds 
F Greater than 80 seconds Greater than 50 seconds 

Source: Highway Capacity Manual, 6th Edition. 
 

Capacity Analysis results for the Site Driveway at Underpass Road are shown in Table 3 below.  

Table 3 Unsignalized Intersection Capacity Analysis (Peak Summer Season) 

Location / 
Movement 

2025 Build Conditions  
D a v/c b Del c LOS d 95 Q e 

Underpass Road at Site Driveway  

Weekday Morning      
EB L/R 10 0.02 10 B 0 
NB L 5 0.00 8 A 0 

Weekday Evening      
EB L/R 40 0.07 12 B 5 
NB L 20 0.02 8 A 3 

Saturday Midday       
EB L/R 60 0.12 12 B 10 
NB L 35 0.03 8 A 3 

a Demand 
b Volume to capacity ratio. 
c Average total delay, in seconds per vehicle. 
d Level-of-service. 
e 95th percentile queue, in feet. 
# 95th percentile volume exceeds capacity, queue may be longer.  
m Volume for 95th percentile queue is metered by upstream signal. 
 
As shown in Table 3, all movements at the study area intersection operate at LOS B or better during the critical 
weekday morning, weekday evening, and Saturday midday peak hours for the 2025 Build Conditions.  

Sight Distance  

Access to the site is proposed via a single access driveway off Underpass Road north of Sara Ann Lane.  



Town of Brewster 
Ref:  15934.00 
March 29, 2024 
Page 8 
 
 

\\gbldata\projects\Wat-TS\15934.00 Brewster Proposed ComDev\docs\memos\March 29 Update\Traffic Memo 3 29 24.docx 

VHB conducted a sight distance analysis, conforming to guidelines of the American Association of State Highway and 
Transportation Officials (AASHTO)4, at the location of the proposed site driveway at 162 Underpass Lane. Sight 
distance is generally divided into two categories: Stopping Sight Distance (SSD) and Intersection Sight Distance (ISD).  
Stopping Sight Distance (SSD) is the distance required for a vehicle approaching an intersection from either direction 
to perceive, react and come to a complete stop before colliding with an object in the road, in this case the exiting 
vehicle from a driveway. In this respect, SSD can be considered as the minimum visibility criterion for the safe 
operation of an unsignalized intersection. 

Intersection Sight Distance (ISD) is based on the time required for perception, reaction, and completion of the desired 
critical exiting maneuver once the driver on a minor street or driveway approach decided to execute the maneuver. 
Calculation for the critical ISD includes the time to (1) turn left, and to clear the half of the intersection without 
conflicting with the vehicles approaching from the left; and (2) accelerate to the operating speed of the roadway 
without causing approaching vehicles to unduly reduce their speed. In this context, ISD can be considered as a 
desirable visibility criterion for the safe operation of an unsignalized intersection. Essentially, while SSD is the 
minimum distance needed to avoid collisions, ISD is the minimum distance needed so that mainline motorists will not 
have to substantially reduce their speed due to turning vehicles. To maintain the safe operation of an unsignalized 
intersection, ISD only needs to be equal to the stopping sight distance, though it is desirable to meet ISD 
requirements by themselves. 

To calculate the required SSD and ISD at the proposed unsignalized Site driveway intersections, a 40 miles-per-hour 
(mph) design speed was used based on the observed speed limit. Table 4 summarizes the sight distance analysis. 

Table 4 Sight Distance Analysis Summary 

 Stopping Sight Distance (ft) a Intersection Sight Distance (ft) a 
 Traveling Required Measured Turning Desired Measured 

Underpass Road 
at Site Driveway Northbound 325 330+ Looking Left 465 >500+ 

 Southbound 295 >500+ Looking Right 395 285+ 
a Based on guidelines established in A Policy on the Geometric Design of Highways and Streets, Seventh Edition(2nd Printing), American 

Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO), an observed 85th percentile speed of 42 mph NB and 41 mph SB was 
used (based on a February 2023 ATR conducted at the site driveway) 

  
As shown in Table 3, the minimum stopping sight distance (SSD), meets or exceeds the minimum requirements.  It 
should be noted that meeting or exceeding SSD is necessary for sight distance to ensure adequate sight lines are 
available.  As shown in the table, the desirable intersection sight distance (ISD) is met for looking left but not looking 
right.  Meeting ISD is desirable but not necessarily a requirement. The ISD is not met for the right-turn condition due 
to horizonal curvature in the roadway. To the south of the driveway there is currently some vegetation and 
overhanging trees that will eventually have an influence on the sight distance.  With that in mind, we suggest the area 
be trimmed back including the overhanging tree canopies.  In addition, to raise awareness of the proposed driveway 
as well as the driveway to the north on the east side of the street, VHB recommends the installation of intersection 
ahead signage on the northbound approach.  The sign should be placed per M.U.T.C.D guidelines. 

 
4  A Policy on the Geometric Design of Highways and Streets, American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials, 2011. 



Town of Brewster 
Ref:  15934.00 
March 29, 2024 
Page 9 
 
 

\\gbldata\projects\Wat-TS\15934.00 Brewster Proposed ComDev\docs\memos\March 29 Update\Traffic Memo 3 29 24.docx 

Sidewalk and Crosswalk 

VHB has been told that the town is requesting that the proponent construct a sidewalk along the site frontage and a 
crosswalk across Underpass Road to the sidewalk that exists on the east side of the roadway.  With this in mind, VHB 
has assessed the potential location of a crosswalk given the vertical curves in the roadway.  Based on in field 
measurements and review of geometry, it appears that the most appropriate place for a crosswalk is at the northwest 
corner of Sara Ann Lane which is at the crest of the vertical curve (shown below).   

 

 
 

 

Review of sight distance in this area suggests that good visibility is available in both directions for both ISD and SSD.  
The approximately values are presented in Table 5 below. 

 

Table 5 Sight Distance Analysis Summary 

 Stopping Sight Distance (ft) a Intersection Sight Distance (ft) a 
 Traveling Required Measured Turning Desired Measured 

Underpass Road 
at Site Driveway Northbound 325 >1,000+ Looking Left 465 >1,000+ 

 Southbound 295 >1,000+ Looking Right 395 >1,000+ 
a Based on guidelines established in A Policy on the Geometric Design of Highways and Streets, Seventh Edition(2nd Printing), American 

Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO), an observed 85th percentile speed of 42 mph NB and 41 mph SB was 
used (based on a February 2023 ATR conducted at the site driveway) 

 



Town of Brewster 
Ref:  15934.00 
March 29, 2024 
Page 10 
 
 

\\gbldata\projects\Wat-TS\15934.00 Brewster Proposed ComDev\docs\memos\March 29 Update\Traffic Memo 3 29 24.docx 

The location of the crosswalk will need to be approved by the Town of Brewster and all pavement markings and 
signage will need to conform to the M.U.T.C.D guidelines.  Trimming of brush in the sight line quadrants and overhead 
should be performed regularly to ensure that sight lines are maintained in the future.   

 

Transportation Demand Management Plan (TDM)  

Implementation of Traffic Demand Measures (TDM) will offer alternatives to traveling in single occupancy vehicles to 
arrive and depart the site.  This is geared toward reducing traffic and parking demand on the Site.  As part of the 
proposed project, the following TDM measures will be implemented on Site: 
 

• Establish a Transportation Demand Management (TDM) Program coordinator that will be responsible for the 
program as well as surveys of programs identified below. 

• Upon moving in, all tenants will be provided a welcome package that will include descriptions of all TDM 
initiatives that are offered on-site.  This will include a map of existing pedestrian and bicycle infrastructure in 
the area. 

• Bike Racks will be provided in a central location on-site. 

• Implement an onsite car-pool rideshare program with guaranteed ride home for employees. 

• By virtue of the variety of uses on site, varied work hours would be expected by the various uses. 

• Pending approval of the project, a TDM Implementation Plan will be developed for use by the transportation 
coordinator. 

 
 

  



Town of Brewster 
Ref:  15934.00 
March 29, 2024 
Page 11 
 
 

\\gbldata\projects\Wat-TS\15934.00 Brewster Proposed ComDev\docs\memos\March 29 Update\Traffic Memo 3 29 24.docx 

 

Attachments 
 

 

 
 



 
 

Appendix  

Proposed Site Plan 

  





 
 

Appendix  

Trip Generation 

  



 
ITE TRIP GENERATION  WORKSHEET
(11th Edition, Updated 2021)

LANDUSE: Specialty Trade Contractor
LANDUSE CODE: 180 Independent Variable --- 1,000 Sq. Feet Gross Floor Area

SETTING/LOCATION: General Urban/Suburban
JOB NAME: FLOOR AREA (KSF): 5.00

JOB NUMBER:

RATES: Total Trip Ends Independent Variable Range
# Studies R^2 Average Low High Average Low High Enter Exit

DAILY 20 -- 9.82 3.00 43.33 6.000 1.458 12.000 50% 50%
AM PEAK OF GENERATOR 20 -- 1.98 0.47 11.25 6.000 1.458 12.000 77% 23%
PM PEAK OF GENERATOR 20 -- 2.18 0.85 10.83 6.000 1.458 12.000 38% 62%
AM PEAK (ADJACENT ST) 20 -- 1.66 0.12 9.17 6.000 1.458 12.000 74% 26%
PM PEAK (ADJACENT ST) 19 -- 1.93 0.38 10.83 6.000 1.458 12.000 32% 68%

TRIPS: BY AVERAGE BY REGRESSION
Total Enter Exit Total Enter Exit

DAILY 50 25 25 -- -- --
AM PEAK OF GENERATOR 10 8 2 -- -- --
PM PEAK OF GENERATOR 11 4 7 -- -- --
AM PEAK (ADJACENT ST) 8 6 2 -- -- --
PM PEAK (ADJACENT ST) 10 3 7 -- -- --

RATES: Total Trip Ends Independent Variable Range
# Studies R^2 Average Low High Average Low High Enter Exit

DAILY -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --
PEAK OF GENERATOR -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --

TRIPS: BY AVERAGE BY REGRESSION
Total Enter Exit Total Enter Exit

DAILY -- -- -- -- -- --
PEAK OF GENERATOR -- -- -- -- -- --

RATES: Total Trip Ends Independent Variable Range
# Studies R^2 Average Low High Average Low High Enter Exit

DAILY -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --
PEAK OF GENERATOR -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --

TRIPS: BY AVERAGE BY REGRESSION
Total Enter Exit Total Enter Exit

DAILY -- -- -- -- -- --
PEAK OF GENERATOR -- -- -- -- -- --

Directional 
Distribution

Directional 
Distribution

Directional 
Distribution

WEEKDAY

SATURDAY

SUNDAY



 
ITE TRIP GENERATION  WORKSHEET
(11th Edition, Updated 2021)

LANDUSE: Single-Family Attached Housing
LANDUSE CODE: 215 Independent Variable --- Number of Units

SETTING/LOCATION: General Urban / Suburban
JOB NAME: 1 units

JOB NUMBER:

RATES: Total Trip Ends Independent Variable Range
# Studies R^2 Average Low High Average Low High Enter Exit

DAILY 22 0.94 7.20 4.70 10.97 120 8 585 50% 50%
AM PEAK OF GENERATOR 31 0.91 0.55 0.35 0.97 110 8 452 25% 75%
PM PEAK OF GENERATOR 34 0.87 0.61 0.29 1.25 110 8 452 62% 38%
AM PEAK (ADJACENT ST) 46 0.92 0.48 0.12 0.74 135 8 700 25% 75%
PM PEAK (ADJACENT ST) 51 0.91 0.57 0.17 1.25 136 8 700 59% 41%

TRIPS: BY AVERAGE BY REGRESSION
Total Enter Exit Total Enter Exit

DAILY 7 4 4 -43 -21 -21
AM PEAK OF GENERATOR 1 0 0 1 0 1
PM PEAK OF GENERATOR 1 0 0 1 1 0
AM PEAK (ADJACENT ST) 0 0 0 -5 -1 -4
PM PEAK (ADJACENT ST) 1 0 0 -3 -2 -1

RATES: Total Trip Ends Independent Variable Range
# Studies R^2 Average Low High Average Low High Enter Exit

DAILY 5 0.91 8.76 6.75 11.40 100 48 147 50% 50%
PEAK OF GENERATOR 7 0.91 0.57 0.46 0.93 182 48 462 48% 52%

TRIPS: BY AVERAGE BY REGRESSION
Total Enter Exit Total Enter Exit

DAILY 9 4 4 -431 -216 -216
PEAK OF GENERATOR 1 0 0 2 1 1

RATES: Total Trip Ends Independent Variable Range
# Studies R^2 Average Low High Average Low High Enter Exit

DAILY 5 0.93 7.17 5.52 8.41 100 48 147 50% 50%
PEAK OF GENERATOR 5 0.83 0.79 0.54 1.07 100 48 147 N/A N/A

TRIPS: BY AVERAGE BY REGRESSION
Total Enter Exit Total Enter Exit

DAILY 7 4 4 -252 -126 -126
PEAK OF GENERATOR 1 N/A N/A 12 N/A N/A

Directional 
Distribution

WEEKDAY
Directional 
Distribution

SATURDAY
Directional 
Distribution

SUNDAY



 
ITE TRIP GENERATION  WORKSHEET
(11th Edition, Updated 2021)

LANDUSE: Strip Retail Plaza (<40k)
LANDUSE CODE: 822 Independent Variable ---

SETTING/LOCATION: General Urban/Suburban 
JOB NAME: FLOOR AREA (KSF): 2.590

JOB NUMBER:

RATES: Total Trip Ends Independent Variable Range
# Studies R^2 Average Low High Average Low High Enter Exit

DAILY 4 0.96 54.45 47.86 65.07 19 9 35 50% 50%
AM PEAK OF GENERATOR 6 -- 7.60 2.40 21.30 16 8 24 50% 50%
PM PEAK OF GENERATOR 5 -- 13.24 6.27 24.11 16 8 24 54% 46%
AM PEAK (ADJACENT ST) 5 0.57 2.36 1.60 3.73 18 9 35 60% 40%
PM PEAK (ADJACENT ST) 25 0.56 6.59 2.81 15.20 21 3 39 50% 50%

TRIPS: BY AVERAGE BY REGRESSION
Total Enter Exit Total Enter Exit

DAILY 142 71 71 340 170 170
AM PEAK OF GENERATOR 20 10 10 -- -- --
PM PEAK OF GENERATOR 34 19 16 -- -- --
AM PEAK (ADJACENT ST) 6 4 2 12 7 5
PM PEAK (ADJACENT ST) 18 9 9 30 15 15

RATES: Total Trip Ends Independent Variable Range
# Studies R^2 Average Low High Average Low High Enter Exit

DAILY -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --
PEAK OF GENERATOR 12 -- 6.57 1.88 14.23 27 8 39 51% 49%

TRIPS: BY AVERAGE BY REGRESSION
Total Enter Exit Total Enter Exit

DAILY -- -- -- -- -- --
PEAK OF GENERATOR 17 9 8 -- -- --

RATES: Total Trip Ends Independent Variable Range
# Studies R^2 Average Low High Average Low High Enter Exit

DAILY -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --
PEAK OF GENERATOR -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --

TRIPS: BY AVERAGE BY REGRESSION
Total Enter Exit Total Enter Exit

DAILY -- -- -- -- -- --
PEAK OF GENERATOR -- -- -- -- -- --

Directional 
Distribution

Directional 
Distribution

Directional 
Distribution

WEEKDAY

SATURDAY

SUNDAY



 

ITE TRIP GENERATION  WORKSHEET

(11th Edition, Updated 2021)

LANDUSE: Fast Casual Restaurant

LANDUSE CODE: 930 Independent Variable --- 1,000 Sq. Feet Gross Floor Area

SETTING/LOCATION: General Urban/Suburban 

JOB NAME: FLOOR AREA (KSF): 3.3

JOB NUMBER:

RATES: Total Trip Ends Independent Variable Range

# Studies R^2 Average Low High Average Low High Enter Exit

DAILY 1 -- 97.14 97.14 97.14 1.40 1.40 1.40 50% 50%

AM PEAK OF GENERATOR 1 -- 5.71 5.71 5.71 1.40 1.40 1.40 63% 37%

PM PEAK OF GENERATOR 1 -- 18.57 18.57 18.57 1.40 1.40 1.40 62% 38%

AM PEAK (ADJACENT ST) 1 -- 1.43 1.43 1.43 1.40 1.40 1.40 50% 50%

PM PEAK (ADJACENT ST) 15 0.65 12.55 5.94 27.40 3.00 1.40 5.02 55% 45%

TRIPS: BY AVERAGE BY REGRESSION

Total Enter Exit Total Enter Exit

DAILY 321 160 160 -- -- --

AM PEAK OF GENERATOR 19 12 7 -- -- --

PM PEAK OF GENERATOR 61 38 23 -- -- --

AM PEAK (ADJACENT ST) 5 2.360 2.36 -- -- --

PM PEAK (ADJACENT ST) 41 23 19 43 24 19

RATES: Total Trip Ends Independent Variable Range

# Studies R^2 Average Low High Average Low High Enter Exit

DAILY -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --

PEAK OF GENERATOR 2 -- 32.64 32.26 33.00 5.00 4.65 5.00 55% 45%

TRIPS: BY AVERAGE BY REGRESSION

Total Enter Exit Total Enter Exit

DAILY -- -- -- -- -- --

PEAK OF GENERATOR 108 59 48 -- -- --

RATES: Total Trip Ends Independent Variable Range

# Studies R^2 Average Low High Average Low High Enter Exit

DAILY -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --

PEAK OF GENERATOR -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- -- --

TRIPS: BY AVERAGE BY REGRESSION

Total Enter Exit Total Enter Exit

DAILY -- -- -- -- -- --

PEAK OF GENERATOR -- -- -- -- -- --

Directional 

Distribution

WEEKDAY

Directional 

Distribution

SATURDAY

Directional 

Distribution

SUNDAY



 

 

Appendix  

Intersection Capacity Analysis 

  



 

 

Appendix  

Nearby Permanent Count Station Data 

  



Location ID: 7143

Harwich Road south of Route 137 

Tuesday (8/22/2023) Wednesday (8/23/2023) Weekday Average Saturday (8/26/2023)

3506 3631 3568.5 3244

Location ID: 7142

Route 137 (Long Pond Road) west of Route 124

Tuesday (8/22/2023) Wednesday (8/23/2023) Weekday Average Saturday (8/26/2023)

3970 3872 3921 3562



Location 

ID Start Date 8/26/2023

Type End Date 8/27/2023

Functiona

l Class

Start 

Time 12:00 PM

Located 

On End Time 12:00 PM

WEST OF Direction

Direction Notes

Communi

ty

Count 

Source

MPO_ID File Name

HPMS ID Weather

Agency Study

Owner tdcms

QC Status Accepted

1st 2nd 3rd 4th
00:00 - 

01:00 3 4 2 5 14

01:00 - 

02:00 3 2 1 1 7

02:00 - 

03:00 1 3 3 2 9

03:00 - 

04:00 0 0 2 1 3

04:00 - 

05:00 0 2 0 4 6

05:00 - 

06:00 2 2 3 5 12

06:00 - 

07:00 14 7 8 27 56

07:00 - 

08:00 18 18 26 25 87

08:00 - 

09:00 53 65 43 35 196

09:00 - 

10:00 40 58 74 93 265

10:00 - 

11:00 66 43 70 63 242

11:00 - 

12:00 75 70 84 98 327

12:00 - 

13:00 83 90 84 73 330

13:00 - 

14:00 89 95 87 79 350

14:00 - 

15:00 74 104 85 80 343

15:00 - 

16:00 78 76 86 73 313

16:00 - 

17:00 76 65 53 71 265

17:00 - 

18:00 68 60 46 50 224

18:00 - 

19:00 52 47 40 24 163

19:00 - 

20:00 39 36 36 25 136

20:00 - 

21:00 17 21 22 23 83

21:00 - 

22:00 17 13 8 13 51

22:00 - 

23:00 16 17 13 10 56

23:00 - 

24:00 6 9 5 4 24

TOTAL 3562

Massachusetts Highway Department

Location Info Count Data Info

7142

I-SECTION

4

LONG POND ROAD

Rt 124

2-WAY

Brewster

41000203560

Interval: 15 mins

Time
15 Min Hourly 

Count



Location 

ID Start Date 8/23/2023

Type End Date 8/24/2023

Functiona

l Class

Start 

Time 12:00 PM

Located 

On End Time 12:00 PM

WEST OF Direction

Direction Notes

Communi

ty

Count 

Source

MPO_ID File Name

HPMS ID Weather

Agency Study

Owner tdcms

QC Status Accepted

1st 2nd 3rd 4th
00:00 - 

01:00 1 3 4 2 10

01:00 - 

02:00 0 1 0 0 1

02:00 - 

03:00 0 1 1 2 4

03:00 - 

04:00 2 0 1 1 4

04:00 - 

05:00 0 0 1 5 6

05:00 - 

06:00 7 5 5 13 30

06:00 - 

07:00 6 10 17 25 58

07:00 - 

08:00 26 51 52 57 186

08:00 - 

09:00 52 61 78 75 266

09:00 - 

10:00 65 65 66 67 263

10:00 - 

11:00 67 83 91 84 325

11:00 - 

12:00 88 75 97 67 327

12:00 - 

13:00 79 79 69 78 305

13:00 - 

14:00 71 65 70 58 264

14:00 - 

15:00 69 76 83 78 306

15:00 - 

16:00 73 85 72 87 317

16:00 - 

17:00 87 101 71 86 345

17:00 - 

18:00 79 66 78 47 270

18:00 - 

19:00 72 56 52 43 223

19:00 - 

20:00 34 38 45 27 144

20:00 - 

21:00 31 23 25 19 98

21:00 - 

22:00 26 14 10 23 73

22:00 - 

23:00 21 10 1 5 37

23:00 - 

24:00 5 2 2 1 10

TOTAL 3872

Massachusetts Highway Department

Location Info Count Data Info

7142

I-SECTION

4

LONG POND ROAD

Rt 124

2-WAY

Brewster

41000203560

Interval: 15 mins

Time
15 Min Hourly 

Count



Location 

ID Start Date 8/22/2023

Type End Date 8/23/2023

Functiona

l Class

Start 

Time 12:00 PM

Located 

On End Time 12:00 PM

WEST OF Direction

Direction Notes

Communi

ty

Count 

Source

MPO_ID File Name

HPMS ID Weather

Agency Study

Owner tdcms

QC Status Accepted

1st 2nd 3rd 4th
00:00 - 

01:00 2 0 1 4 7

01:00 - 

02:00 1 2 0 1 4

02:00 - 

03:00 0 1 1 0 2

03:00 - 

04:00 0 3 0 3 6

04:00 - 

05:00 1 0 2 3 6

05:00 - 

06:00 10 5 6 12 33

06:00 - 

07:00 13 12 22 19 66

07:00 - 

08:00 26 46 71 55 198

08:00 - 

09:00 59 58 63 83 263

09:00 - 

10:00 69 75 84 80 308

10:00 - 

11:00 64 61 75 88 288

11:00 - 

12:00 76 90 85 75 326

12:00 - 

13:00 88 71 95 79 333

13:00 - 

14:00 78 74 70 67 289

14:00 - 

15:00 78 83 93 80 334

15:00 - 

16:00 63 86 81 87 317

16:00 - 

17:00 80 74 65 72 291

17:00 - 

18:00 82 80 93 65 320

18:00 - 

19:00 48 66 57 43 214

19:00 - 

20:00 23 41 30 28 122

20:00 - 

21:00 41 25 28 26 120

21:00 - 

22:00 19 22 14 13 68

22:00 - 

23:00 15 13 7 6 41

23:00 - 

24:00 6 3 0 5 14

TOTAL 3970

Massachusetts Highway Department

Location Info Count Data Info

7142

I-SECTION

4

LONG POND ROAD

Rt 124

2-WAY

Brewster

41000203560

Interval: 15 mins

Time
15 Min Hourly 

Count



Location 

ID Start Date 8/22/2023

Type End Date 8/23/2023

Functiona

l Class Start Time 12:00 PM

Located 

On End Time 12:00 PM

SOUTH OF Direction

Direction Notes

Communi

ty

Count 

Source

MPO_ID File Name

HPMS ID Weather

Agency Study

Owner tdcms

QC Status Accepted

1st 2nd 3rd 4th
00:00 - 

01:00 3 1 3 5 12

01:00 - 

02:00 1 0 1 2 4

02:00 - 

03:00 2 3 0 0 5

03:00 - 

04:00 1 3 1 1 6

04:00 - 

05:00 1 0 3 7 11

05:00 - 

06:00 3 9 7 7 26

06:00 - 

07:00 12 11 17 27 67

07:00 - 

08:00 25 28 53 51 157

08:00 - 

09:00 44 47 44 61 196

09:00 - 

10:00 58 65 72 58 253

10:00 - 

11:00 64 70 58 75 267

11:00 - 

12:00 56 72 74 73 275

12:00 - 

13:00 71 65 64 53 253

13:00 - 

14:00 57 68 60 62 247

14:00 - 

15:00 62 76 52 66 256

15:00 - 

16:00 71 75 78 57 281

16:00 - 

17:00 73 69 71 70 283

17:00 - 

18:00 68 89 67 64 288

18:00 - 

19:00 55 49 51 49 204

19:00 - 

20:00 37 36 36 44 153

20:00 - 

21:00 45 29 18 24 116

21:00 - 

22:00 26 17 26 17 86

22:00 - 

23:00 18 11 6 9 44

23:00 - 

24:00 6 7 2 1 16

TOTAL 3506

Massachusetts Highway Department

Location Info Count Data Info

7143

I-SECTION

3

HARWICH ROAD

Rt 137

2-WAY

Brewster

41000802110

Interval: 15 mins

Time
15 Min Hourly 

Count



Location 

ID Start Date 8/23/2023

Type End Date 8/24/2023

Functiona

l Class Start Time 12:00 PM

Located 

On End Time 12:00 PM

SOUTH OF Direction

Direction Notes

Communi

ty

Count 

Source

MPO_ID File Name

HPMS ID Weather

Agency Study

Owner tdcms

QC Status Accepted

1st 2nd 3rd 4th
00:00 - 

01:00 1 3 4 2 10

01:00 - 

02:00 2 2 0 2 6

02:00 - 

03:00 2 2 0 1 5

03:00 - 

04:00 1 0 0 0 1

04:00 - 

05:00 1 0 0 6 7

05:00 - 

06:00 5 7 7 6 25

06:00 - 

07:00 18 17 20 26 81

07:00 - 

08:00 25 40 44 44 153

08:00 - 

09:00 58 47 55 64 224

09:00 - 

10:00 60 49 67 63 239

10:00 - 

11:00 73 81 78 67 299

11:00 - 

12:00 63 62 70 53 248

12:00 - 

13:00 68 73 65 68 274

13:00 - 

14:00 59 66 66 63 254

14:00 - 

15:00 63 79 74 58 274

15:00 - 

16:00 74 78 68 68 288

16:00 - 

17:00 71 80 75 81 307

17:00 - 

18:00 79 59 52 53 243

18:00 - 

19:00 61 52 63 55 231

19:00 - 

20:00 48 45 49 42 184

20:00 - 

21:00 40 33 34 28 135

21:00 - 

22:00 26 19 21 15 81

22:00 - 

23:00 21 13 4 7 45

23:00 - 

24:00 6 4 4 3 17

TOTAL 3631

Massachusetts Highway Department

Location Info Count Data Info

7143

I-SECTION

3

HARWICH ROAD

Rt 137

2-WAY

Brewster

41000802110

Interval: 15 mins

Time
15 Min Hourly 

Count



Location 

ID Start Date 8/26/2023

Type End Date 8/27/2023

Functiona

l Class Start Time 12:00 PM

Located 

On End Time 12:00 PM

SOUTH OF Direction

Direction Notes

Communi

ty

Count 

Source

MPO_ID File Name

HPMS ID Weather

Agency Study

Owner tdcms

QC Status Accepted

1st 2nd 3rd 4th
00:00 - 

01:00 7 6 6 6 25

01:00 - 

02:00 3 1 4 5 13

02:00 - 

03:00 1 1 5 2 9

03:00 - 

04:00 3 1 1 2 7

04:00 - 

05:00 0 0 0 2 2

05:00 - 

06:00 0 2 3 2 7

06:00 - 

07:00 5 6 9 14 34

07:00 - 

08:00 14 13 15 20 62

08:00 - 

09:00 12 47 46 47 152

09:00 - 

10:00 40 33 68 80 221

10:00 - 

11:00 59 42 46 50 197

11:00 - 

12:00 64 67 56 68 255

12:00 - 

13:00 59 74 59 73 265

13:00 - 

14:00 64 87 68 69 288

14:00 - 

15:00 65 62 65 63 255

15:00 - 

16:00 67 80 77 73 297

16:00 - 

17:00 77 58 61 67 263

17:00 - 

18:00 64 64 46 49 223

18:00 - 

19:00 43 47 63 51 204

19:00 - 

20:00 47 47 42 30 166

20:00 - 

21:00 26 22 36 26 110

21:00 - 

22:00 37 25 30 11 103

22:00 - 

23:00 16 22 10 12 60

23:00 - 

24:00 12 5 3 6 26

TOTAL 3244

Massachusetts Highway Department

Location Info Count Data Info

7143

I-SECTION

3

HARWICH ROAD

Rt 137

2-WAY

Brewster

41000802110

Interval: 15 mins

Time
15 Min Hourly 

Count



 
 

Appendix  

Sight Distance 

 



Stopping Sight Distance and Intersection Sight Distance Calculator [v0.97]

Based on 'A Policy on Geometric Design of Highways and Streets', AASHTO, 2004

Complete three sections - Sections I, II, and III - on the 'Summary' tab

Read Section IV for guidance

Enter data into cells shaded in light green only

Review/adjust all  drop-down values

Ideally: Effort should be made to meet or exceed the desirable ISD measurement.

Minimally: Every intersection must meet the required SSD measurement, which in turn will equal the minimum ISD requirement.

Values in cyan cells are calculated, based on the guidelines in the 2004 AASHTO 'Greenbook'

You may want to adjust the zoom percentage for a comfortable viewing area

\\gbldata\projects\Wat-TS\15934.00 Brewster Proposed ComDev\tech\Transportation\Sight Distance\AASHTO_sight_distance_Underpass Road last revised: 2006.06.13



Stopping Sight Distance and Intersection Sight Distance Calculator [v0.97]

Based on 'A Policy on Geometric Design of Highways and Streets', AASHTO, 2004

Section I Section III

Project Information ISD and SSD Calculations (rounded up to the next highest 5 feet) [sources: SSD - AASHTO, pp.110-117; ISD - AASHTO, pp. 650 - 664]

Project Number: 15934.00 Analyst: VHB Cases are described in detail on subsequent pages.  In summary…

City/Town, State: Brewster, MA B1: left turn from minor road, from stop control

Location: 162 Underpass Road Client: Town of Brewster B2: right turn from minor road, from stop control

B3: crossing maneuver from minor road, from stop control, assuming left- and right turns 

Street Names and Directions Street Notes are not permitted [otherwise, case B1 or B2 would supercede]

Major Street name: Underpass Road

Minor Street name: Site Driveway EB/WB Desirable  Calculated… Condition Met?

Minor Street intersects from  the:  … ISD, case B1: 465 Yes

… ISD, case B2: 395 Yes

The minor street predominantly  serves… … ISD, case B3: 405 Yes

Sight distance location intersection is… [note: if number of lanes crossed exceeds 6, or if grades are steep, consult the manual]

Total number of lanes on Major Street is…

Grade Information [enter down slope as a negative number] Minimum Calculated … Condition Met?

Major Street Approach Grade: 0.50% NB … ISD, case B1: 325 Yes

4.70% SB … ISD, case B2: 295 Yes

Minor Street Approach Grade: 0.00% NB … ISD, case B3: 325 Yes

0.00% SB [note: minimum ISD is equal to required SSD]

Major Street Speed Information

Posted Observed * Calculated … Condition Met?

35 NB 42 … SSD: 325 traveling NB Yes

35 SB 41 295 traveling SB Yes

* note: off-peak 85th percentile speeds

Section II Section IV

ISD and SSD Observations AASHTO Guidance

Instructions on how to observe and measure ISD and SSD are included on subsequent pages. Refer to AASHTO for specific guidance on SSD and ISD if presented with an unusual/atypical case.

Adequate ISD is not needed at signalized intersections, assuming traffic signal heads are visible on all approaches.

Any object that would obstruct the driver's view should be removed or lowered, if practical.  Such objects include buildings, 

parked cars, highway structures, hedges/vegetation/trees/bushes/unmowed lawn, walls, fences, and terrain.

For ISD, an object should be considered an obstruction if it obstructs the vision of a driver whose eye height is 3.5 feet above the

roadway surface and the object to be seen is 3.5 feet above the surface of the intersecting road.

Where horizontal sight restrictions occur on downgrades, particularly at the ends of long downgrades, it is desirable to provide

SSD that exceeds those values indicated above (refer to page 114 of AASHTO).

Limiting Factors:

Observed ISD: >500 looking left [north] Vertical Curvature

(rounded to nearest 5 feet) >285 looking right [south]N/A

Observed SSD: 330 traveling NB Vertical Curvature

(rounded to nearest 5 feet) >500 traveling SB N/A

SSD - Stopping sight distance is the distance required for a vehicle approaching an intersection from either direction to perceive, 

react, and come to a complete stop before colliding with the exiting vehicle from a driveway.  In this respect, SSD can be 

considered as the minimum  visibility criterion for the safe operation of an unsignalized intersection.  

ISD - Intersection sight distance is the distance that is based on the time required for perception, reaction and completion of the 

desired critical exiting maneuver [typically, a left turn] once the driver on a minor street approach [or a site drive] decides to 

execute the maneuver.  Calculation for the critical ISD includes the time to [1] turn left, and to clear the near half of the 

intersection without conflicting with the vehicles approaching from the left; and [2] upon turning left, to accelerate to the 

operating speed on the roadway without causing approaching vehicles on the main road to unduly reduce their speed.  In this 

context, ISD can be considered as a desirable  visibility criterion for the safe operation of an unsignalized intersection.

\\gbldata\projects\Wat-TS\15934.00 Brewster Proposed ComDev\tech\Transportation\Sight Distance\AASHTO_sight_distance_Underpass Road
last revised: 2006.08.01



Stopping Sight Distance and Intersection Sight Distance Calculator [v0.97]

Based on 'A Policy on Geometric Design of Highways and Streets', AASHTO, 2004

B1

B2

B3

F

Note:

(left turn from minor 

road)

ISD - Intersection sight distance is the distance that is based on the time required for perception, reaction and completion of the desired 

critical exiting maneuver [typically, a left turn] once the driver on a minor street approach [or a site drive] decides to execute the 

maneuver.  Calculation for the critical ISD includes the time to [1] turn left, and to clear the near half of the intersection without 

conflicting with the vehicles approaching from the left; and [2] upon turning left, to accelerate to the operating speed on the roadway 

without causing approaching vehicles on the main road to unduly reduce their speed.  In this context, ISD can be considered as a 

desirable visibility criterion for the safe operation of an unsignalized intersection.

'unduly': When intersection sight distances in conformance with B1, B2, and B3 are available, most drivers on the 

major street should not need to reduce their speed to less than 70% of their initial speed

(right turn from the 

minor road)

(crossing maneuver 

from the minor road)

SSD - Stopping sight distance is the distance required for a vehicle approaching an intersection from either direction to perceive, react, and 

come to a complete stop before colliding with the exiting vehicle from a driveway.  In this respect, SSD can be considered as the minimum 

visibility criterion for the safe operation of an unsignalized intersection.  

(left turns from the 

major road)

Required ISD is the distance to a vehicle on the major street (either to the left or the right), required for a stopped 

vehicle on the side street to safely turn left, accelerate, and complete a left turn without unduly interfering with 

the major street traffic operations.  Sight distances shown for case B1 should be provided in both directions for all 

minor street approaches with no turn restrictions.

Required ISD is the distance to a vehicle on the major street (to the left), required for a stopped vehicle on the 

side street to safely turn right, accelerate, and complete a right turn without unduly interfering with the major 

street traffic operations.  Case B2 is sufficient only if left turns are restricted out of the minor street approach.  Use 

Case B1 if left turns are allowed from the minor street approach.

Required ISD is the distance to a vehicle on the major street, required for a stopped vehicle on the side street to 

safely cross the major street without unduly interfering with the major street traffic operations.  Case B3 is 

sufficient only if left turns are restricted out of the minor street approach.  Use Case B1 if left turns are allowed 

from the minor street approach.

Required ISD is the distance to a vehicle on the major street required for an opposing, left-turning vehicle on the 

major street to safely complete a left turn without unduly interfering with the opposing major street traffic 

operations

AASHTO_sight_distance_Underpass Road last revised: 2006.06.13









































1 
 

Town of Brewster 
2198 Main Street 

Brewster, MA 02631-1898 
Phone: (508) 896-3701 
Fax: (508) 896-8089 

 
     

REPORT 
TO: 162 Underpass, LLC 
 The Free Sea Turtle, LLC 
FROM: Jon Idman, Town Planner 
RE:  Staff Review ##s 23-2 and 23-3, Brewster Code Chapter 83, Section 4(D) 

162 Underpass Road (Map 77, Lot 9) 
Lots 1, 2 & 3 Plan Book 698 Page 25   

DATE:  January 18, 2023 
_____________________________________________________________________________ 
Proposed multi-building/ multi-unit commercial development with accessory commercial dwelling units 
on separate development sites along with supporting improvements (Lot 1 and Lot 2).  Shared 
development infrastructure (parking, stormwater, etc.) on Lot 3. 
 
CH commercial district  
 
Preliminary site plans for staff review (separate for Lot 1 and Lot 2) prepared by J.M. O’Reilly, dated 
1/6/23 
 
As separately owned/ controlled developments on separate lots, the proposed development as depicted 
would not require mandatory DRI referral/ review by the Cape Cod Commission. 
 
The Staff Review meeting was held 1/20/23 at Town Hall, Room B with the following representatives of 
the Applicant: 

 Charlie Whitcomb 
 Paul Wallace 
 John O’Reilly, PE, PLS 

Town Staff in attendance 
 Bill Grafton – Conservation Administrator 
 Jon Idman – Town Planner 
 Sherrie McCullough – Asst. Health Director 
 Chris Miller – Natural Resources Director 
 Robert Moran- Fire Chief 
 Alex Provos- Asst. Water Superintendent  

Comments 
 See attached written comments from DPW, the Fire Department, and the Health Department. 
 A major stormwater permit will be required for proposed development on each Lot 1 and Lot 2.  

ConsCom will likely be the authority for Lot 2, and Planning Board for Lot 1, because of 
wetlands jurisdiction.   

 Another major stormwater permit may be required prior to any proposed development or 
permitting for the same, in order to do site work in advance.  Such stormwater permit will deal 
exclusively with erosion control rather than permanent stormwater BMPs and facilities because 
no impervious surface would be proposed with the initial major stormwater permit for site work/ 
land disturbance.  

Office of: 

Planning Board 

Planning Dept. 
 

 



2 
 

 Zoning 
o Contractor and Trades Building use has to be done in its own separate building/s on the 

site rather than as Row Commercial.  The foregoing are separate and distinct uses.  The 
lots are large enough/ have minimum lot area for either Row Commercial and/ or 
Contractor and Trades Building uses.  The restaurant could not be located in the same 
trades use building proposed on lot 1 but would have to be in a separate building. 

o It was confirmed that the restaurant use did not contain a brewery, which is a 
manufacturing use. 

o Lot 1 shows a multi-family dwelling as defined in the Bylaw because three or more 
dwelling units are proposed in the building.  That said, the Bylaw does not limit ACDUs 
to one per site as is the case with ADUs.  ACDUs could be dispersed in various buildings 
on site per the total number of commercial units or operations proposed per Lot. 

o Lot 3 is proposed to be developed with supporting infrastructure for both Lots 1 and 2.  
Per the definition of “Lot” in the Bylaw, Lot 3 would have to be joined with either Lot 1 
or Lot 2, or split between them, through an ANR or perimeter plan, as applicable.  Shared 
infrastructure could be accomplished through easements. 

 Even if uses are allowed by right in the district, the application should specifically request them, 
e.g. outside storage, commercial vehicle parking, etc. 

 Site plan review will be required for each Lot development. 
o Staff would recommend to the planning board that some level of transportation study be 

provided dealing with trip generation, access, and turning movements. 
o Driveway separation from other drives and roads should be provided per the site plan 

review standards.  As is proposed, a single shared access point is generally preferred and 
to accommodate the same, the Bylaw allows for setback waivers for parking spaces, etc. 

o Some landscape buffering will be required though it may not necessarily mean a 
continuous vegetated buffer of at least 10’ around the entirety of the Lots. 

 Development on Lot 2 should be mindful of wetlands and the conservancy district (including 
soils) to the north.  As is proposed, minimum required zoning distance from a building to a 
wetland is 50’. 

 We expect to have more detailed discussion including about parking and site plan review 
standards as the proposed development comes more into focus. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ENC 























CASE NO. 2024-04 ONLY 

DOCUMENTS FOR 
THE FREE SEA TURTLE, LLC  
PAUL WALLACE, MANAGER 

162 UNDERPASS ROAD 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



1 
 

Town of Brewster 
2198 Main Street 

Brewster, MA 02631-1898 
Phone: (508) 896-3701 
Fax: (508) 896-8089 

 
     

STAFF REPORT 
TO:  Planning Board  
FROM: Town Planner 
Re:  Special Pemit & Site Plan Review: Case No. PB24-4 

162 Underpass Road (Map 77, Lot 9), The Free Sea Turtle, LLC 
Plan Book 698, Page 25, “Lot 1” 

DATE: April 2, 2024 
_____________________________________________________________________________ 

 
This is not intended to be a comprehensive or final report on the project, but rather preliminary 
comments that will be supplemented and revised throughout the pendency of review.  
Specifically, I plan to provide my recommendations and opinions about the project’s consistency 
with site plan review and special permit standards later in the hearing/ review period. 
 
Copies of comments from the formal, pre-filing Staff Review process have also been provided to 
assist the Board, though these comments refer to iterative project designs elements that may now 
have been revised in the application plan set. 
 
General 

 The property is located in the CH (commercial) district. 
 A single, two-story building is proposed, with a footprint of 3,300 +/- square feet.  Four 

total units are proposed in the building, one on the ground floor and three on the second 
floor. 

 Because of the new uses and floor area size proposed, the proposed development is 
subject to site plan review. 

 The proposed development underwent formal Staff Review, as required. 
 The property is currently vacant, is largely disturbed and was previously used for an 

excavation business. 
 Small “Lot 4” shown on the site plans and Plan Book 698, Page 25 is not included in the 

development proposal. 
 There is a significant change in grade throughout the lot, and a retaining wall is proposed 

along the property’s southern boundary. 
 Because of the grade of the lot, access to the second floor of the building is via a walk to 

the rear of the building. 
 No floodplains, impaired watershed, Zone II or wetlands areas are located on the lot. 

 
 
 

 

Office of: 

Planning Board 

Planning Dept. 
 

 



2 
 

Uses 
 The main site use is “Row Commercial,” which in turn allows individual uses allowed in 

the district to be undertaken within the constituent units.  Row Commercial is allowed by 
right in the district.   

 The full-service restaurant use, proposed to occupy the entire first floor, requires a special 
permit in the district.  Outdoor seasonal dining is proposed on the patio, accessory to the 
restaurant use.   

 The menu of proposed uses for the three, second floor units are allowed by right in the 
CH district: retail; gift shop; art gallery; antique store; personal services; business offices; 
and repair services (not automotive).  

 Storage of commercial vehicles would also be allowed on the lot, as proposed.  
 The plans appear to meet all ROW Commercial requirements set out in Section 179-38 of 

the Zoning Bylaw, including maximum building coverage (25%) and minimum vegetated 
‘green’ area (25%).   

 The building appears to meet setback requirements. 
 
Infrastructure 

 The proposed development has received a Stormwater Management Permit.  The 
approved stormwater management system is consistent with stormwater management 
standards under site plan review.   

 In addition to stormwater management, the proposed development shares infrastructure 
and improvements with the development proposed on abutting Lot 2/3 (pending case 
PB24-5): access and driveways; landscaping; signage; bike rack; dumpsters; and parking. 

 
Landscaping 

 The application states that there is a proposed evergreen buffer along the western 
property line with the abutting town property (Eddy School).  This is not shown or 
referenced on the landscape plan but should be. 

 The landscape plan uses native species or species appropriate to the area and context. It 
appears that in addition to the existing vegetation, the proposed plantings would create a 
continuous buffer along Underpass Road; the Board should confirm the sufficiency of 
this buffer. 

 The proposed lawn areas should be confirmed as turf-type tall fescue. 
 The landscape details sheet in the site plan set should be revised to recognize that the 

water quality swale will be planted with shrubs, not turf, thus reference to loam and seed 
should be revised. 

 
Building Design 

 Two master signs are proposed, both on ‘Lot 1,’ presumably to serve both Lot 1 and Lot 
2/3.  The Building Commissioner is the master sign permitting authority.  Depending on 
their proposed size, the master signs may require a special permit from the Planning 
Board. 

 The application generally states the exterior building finishes.  The application suggests 
that the building will be a typical metal space building, but also refers to wood siding.  
The Board might want more specific details on materials.   



3 
 

 The building design appears to be much more interesting, complex and attractive than a 
‘typical’ metal space building. 

 The lighting fixtures selected can be ordered as “fully shielded, full cut-off.”  Any 
approval should condition the lighting to be full-shielded and full cut-off. 

 
Parking 

 The Zoning Bylaw allows the Board through site plan review to waive or modify parking 
and drive aisle width requirements (including parking space setbacks and number of 
spaces), especially useful in cases where parking and access is to be shared.   The 
proposal requests and relies on such flexibility for parking setbacks and driveway width.  
See Zoning Bylaw Sections 179-23A and 179-66(B) & (D).  

 The proposed number of shared spaces proposed between the two abutting developments 
(55) is consistent with the Board’s parking policy (September 11, 2013), as calculated in 
the site plan set. 

 It appears that parking is curbed, so no wheel stops are necessary. 
 
Traffic/ Access 

 The applicant’s engineer has met with the Fire Chief to confirm adequate site access and 
circulation for emergency service vehicles (see ‘swept path analysis’ in site plan set). 

 The Applicant provided a transportation assessment by VHB for the proposed 
developments, including trip generation, level of service, crash data and sight line 
analyses.  It concludes that the proposed access drive is located in the safest possible 
location and has sufficient sight lines; there is not a crash history in the area of locus; and 
that the resulting level of service in the roadways under proposed development conditions 
remains acceptable.   

 Trip reduction measures are proposed to mitigate new trip generation.  For trip reduction 
measures, the Applicant is proposing a travel demand management (TDM) program, 
which would, as a condition of any approval, be implemented onsite amongst the various 
tenants/ users when the project is completed and buildings occupied.   

 The TDM program would include a proposed sidewalk on-site along Underpass Road, 
along with a crosswalk, to connect with the sidewalk system along the east side of the 
road.  The proposed new site access drive and crosswalk is towards the southern end of 
the property, in proximity to the new curb cut/ access drive.  A bike rack is also proposed 
on the restaurant patio.  The TDM program should take note that the CCRTA has a fixed 
route along Underpass Road, with a stop only a short distance to the south of the property 
at the intersection of Snow Road and Underpass Road.  

 The Board might want to consider how many bike rack spaces should be provided, as 
they will serve both proposed developments.   

 The site dumpsters are shared, located on Lot 2/3, and access to them appears adequate.   
 A loading zone for the restaurant is provided east of the building, near the proposed 

outdoor freezer. 
 A curbcut/ driveway permit will be required from DPW; construction access and 

activities (including the proposed sidewalk and crosswalk on Underpass Road) should be 
coordinated with DPW prior to any commencement of work.  
 

























                                                                                

                                                                                

                                                                                

                           N O T                 N O T                          

                            A N                   A N                           

                      O F F I C I A L       O F F I C I A L                     

                          C O P Y               C O P Y                         

                                                                                

                           N O T                 N O T                          

                            A N                   A N                           

                      O F F I C I A L       O F F I C I A L                     

                          C O P Y               C O P Y                         



                                                                                

                                                                                

                                                                                

                           N O T                 N O T                          

                            A N                   A N                           

                      O F F I C I A L       O F F I C I A L                     

                          C O P Y               C O P Y                         

                                                                                

                           N O T                 N O T                          

                            A N                   A N                           

                      O F F I C I A L       O F F I C I A L                     

                          C O P Y               C O P Y                         



                                                                                

                                                                                

                                                                                

                           N O T                 N O T                          

                            A N                   A N                           

                      O F F I C I A L       O F F I C I A L                     

                          C O P Y               C O P Y                         

                                                                                

                           N O T                 N O T                          

                            A N                   A N                           

                      O F F I C I A L       O F F I C I A L                     

                          C O P Y               C O P Y                         



                                                                                

                                                                                

                                                                                

                           N O T                 N O T                          

                            A N                   A N                           

                      O F F I C I A L       O F F I C I A L                     

                          C O P Y               C O P Y                         

                                                                                

                           N O T                 N O T                          

                            A N                   A N                           

                      O F F I C I A L       O F F I C I A L                     

                          C O P Y               C O P Y                         



                                                                                

                                                                                

                                                                                

                           N O T                 N O T                          

                            A N                   A N                           

                      O F F I C I A L       O F F I C I A L                     

                          C O P Y               C O P Y                         

                                                                                

                           N O T                 N O T                          

                            A N                   A N                           

                      O F F I C I A L       O F F I C I A L                     

                          C O P Y               C O P Y                         









Lawn

U
N

DERPASS RO
AD

50' PU
BLIC W

AY
DRILL HOLE

FND

CB
FND

Edge of Wetland

Existing Rock W
all

Edge of Pavem
ent

192.00'

S 01°05'23" E

Isolated Vegetated
Wetland

68

68
66

66

64

64

62

62

60

60

58

58

56

56

54

52

52

50

50

48

70

70

72

72

46

48

50

54

49

56 58

54
56

EXISTING
BUILDING

T

71x0

58

PROPOSED BLOCK WALL
TOP OF WALL EL=60.0±
FINISH GRADE EL=58.5±

EQ
U

IP
M

EN
T

ST
O

RA
G

E

115.66'

163.00'

71.91'

15
7.

16
'

286.71'

46

50' Buffer
Zone

100' Buffer
Zone

50' BufferZone

100' Buffer
Zone

BENCHMARK:
Top of Concrete Bound
EL=67.76 (MASS COORD.)

Area= 1,519 SF±
LOT 4

LOT 2-3
Total Area = 64,989  SF±
Wetland Area = 306 SF±

Upland Area= 65,295 SF±

T

PROPOSED SIGN

20' UTILITY EASEMENT
TOWN OF BREWSTER

PROPOSED BULK LANDSCAPE &
CONSTRUCTION MATERIAL STORAGE,

THREE (3) - 20' x 15' BINS

PROPOSED 52' x 32' x 6' LEACHING
GALLEY FOR STORMWATER DISPOSAL.

DMH

GRAVEL SURFACE

GRAVEL SURFACE

Existing Paved Parking Area

DMH

DMH

PROPOSED 90' x 60'
FIVE (5) - COMMERCIAL BAYSSLAB FOUNDATION EL=60.5

PROPOSED 40' x 60'RESTAURANTSLAB FOUNDATION EL=60.5

10' WIDE SIDEWALK - EL=60.5

PROPOSED SIGN

PROPOSED PATIO

Isolated Vegetated
Wetland

Existing Culvert

Existing Paved Driveway

Existing Gravel Driveway

49.8'±

21
.0

'±

21
.0

'±

20.5'±

Area= 44,200 SF±
LOT 1

16" Dead Oak

16" Dead Pine

14" Dead Pine

70

68

66

64

62
71x072

Stockade Fence

PROPOSED BIKE RACK

PROPOSED 6" TALL
STOCKADE FENCE FOR
SCREENING

PR
O

PO
SE

D
PA

TI
O

PROPOSED LOADING
ZONE

PROP.FREEZER

(3) Chicago Luster Arrowwood

(1) Heritage River Birch

(11) Heller Japanese Holly

(5) Incrediball Hydrangea

(4) Northern Bayberry

(5) Green Giant Arborvitae

(2) Allee Lacebark Elm

Allee Lacebark Elm (1)

(1) Redpointe Red Maple

(16) Dense Inkberry Holly

QTY BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME SIZE

TREES
1 Acer rubrum 'Frank Jr.' TM Redpointe Red Maple 8-10` clump
1 Betula nigra `Heritage` Heritage River Birch 5 gal
3 Ulmus parvifolia `Allee` Allee Lacebark Elm 5 gal

CONIFERS
5 Thuja standishii x plicata `Green Giant` Green Giant Arborvitae 8-10`

SHRUBS
5 Hydrangea arborescens `Abetwo` Incrediball Hydrangea 5 gal
11 Ilex crenata `Hellerii` Heller Japanese Holly 5 gal
16 Ilex glabra `Densa` Dense Inkberry Holly 3 gal
4 Myrica pensylvanica Northern Bayberry 5 gal
3 Viburnum dentatum `Chicago Luster` Chicago Luster Arrowwood 5 gal

PLANT SCHEDULE

The Free Sea Turtle, LLC

Landscape Plan

Lot #1 @162 Underpass Rd., Brewster
By: Philip L. Cheney  508-394-1373

Scale: 1" = 30'-0"  2/20/2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
46.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
47.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
48.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
48.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
48.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
48.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
48.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
48.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
50.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
50.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
47.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
48.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
46.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
46.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
46.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
46.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
50.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
48.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
49.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
59.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
60.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
63.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
68.4



 
CASE NO. 2024-05 ONLY 

DOCUMENTS FOR 
162 UNDERPASS LLC 

CHARLES WHITCOMB III, MANAGER 
0 UNDERPASS ROAD 

 
 
 



1 
 

Town of Brewster 
2198 Main Street 

Brewster, MA 02631-1898 
Phone: (508) 896-3701 
Fax: (508) 896-8089 

 
     

STAFF REPORT 
TO:  Planning Board  
FROM: Town Planner 
Re:  Case No. PB24-5: Special Pemit & Site Plan Review 

0 Underpass Road (M 77 PCLs 10 & 60), 162 Underpass, LLC  
Plan Book 698, Page 25, Lots 2 & 3 (“Lot 2/3”)   

DATE: April 2, 2024 
_____________________________________________________________________________ 

 
This is not intended to be a comprehensive or final report on the project, but rather preliminary 
comments that will be supplemented and revised throughout the pendency of review.  
Specifically, I plan to provide my recommendations and opinions about the project’s consistency 
with site plan review and special permit standards later in the hearing/ review period. 
 
Copies of comments from the formal, pre-filing Staff Review process have also been provided to 
assist the Board, though these comments refer to iterative project designs elements that may now 
have been revised in the application plan set. 
 
General 

 The property is located in the CH (commercial) district. 
 Because of the new uses and floor area proposed, the proposed development is subject to 

site plan review. 
 The proposed development underwent formal Staff Review, as required. 
 The development lot is composed of Lots 2&3 shown on Plan Book 698, Page 25.  As a 

condition of any approval, the applicant will be required to prepare a so-called “81X” 
perimeter plan of the property to effectively merge the parcels. 

 Wetlands and wetland buffer zones exist onsite. The proposed development has received 
an Order of Conditions from the Conservation Commission. 

 Efforts have been made to place as much development as possible outside wetlands 
buffer areas; the septic system is located entirely outside the wetlands buffer. 

 No floodplains, impaired marine watershed area, or Zone II areas are located on the lot. 
 Some of the lot has mapped conservancy soils; however, building development is not 

proposed within these mapped areas. 
 There is a significant change in grade throughout the property, and a retaining wall is 

proposed along the property’s western boundary. 
 The property is currently vacant, is largely disturbed and was previously used for an 

excavation business. 
 Small “Lot 4” shown on the site plans and Plan Book 698, Page 25 is not included in the 

development proposal. 

Office of: 

Planning Board 

Planning Dept. 
 

 



2 
 

 
Uses 

 The proposed uses are allowed in the CH district: Building and Construction Trades 
(special permit) & security dwelling (by right). 

 One, single story 5000 sq ft gfa building is proposed (exclusive of the security dwelling 
which is proposed to be connected/ joined to the metal space building).  5 contractor 
units/ bays are proposed (1000 sq ft each). 

 The security dwelling is limited to use and occupancy (owner/ caretaker) as described in 
the Zoning Bylaw. 

 The Building and Construction Trades use1 allows up to four contractor businesses on a 
site, in one or more buildings of no more than 6000 sq ft floor area total.  Five bays/ units 
are proposed.  Thus, any approval should be conditioned that there be no more than four 
building and construction trades businesses on-site. 

 Material and equipment storage is also proposed, accessory to the principal contractor 
uses.  As shown on the site plan, there is what appears to be three bulk material storage 
bins (formed with retaining walls), as well as ‘equipment storage,’ in the western part of 
the lot. 

 The Planning Board will need to decide whether the material bins constitute storage as 
allowed in the CH district and/ or as part of a defined Building and Construction Trades 
use.2 

 If the materials storage bins are deemed allowed and appropriate, it appears that some or 
all of the six gravel parking spaces proposed should be eliminated or relocated to avoid 
space or safety conflicts.  It is my opinion that even without these six spaces, there are 
sufficient shared spaces proposed (49) to serve the abutting developments, and that the 
Board would have the authority to approve the same.  The Board may also consider 
whether trees/ shrubs should be proposed to buffer the materials bin, perhaps along the 
curb shown abutting the proposed gravel parking spaces.  

 In addition, the Applicant should clarify/ provide details about the “proposed equipment 
storage” shown on the plan.  The storage should be enclosed, such as in a storage 
container, and as such is also subject to yard setback requirements, compliance with 
which should be confirmed. 

 At any rate, it appears that as might be allowed, the equipment and material storage needs 
to be related to a contractor business on the site, rather than operate as a separate or 
independent use or business. 

 Storage of commercial vehicles would also be allowed on the lot, as proposed.  
 

 
1 BUILDING AND CONSTRUCTION TRADES SHOP OR GARAGE: A single structure or up to four 
separate structures, the combined square footage of which shall not exceed 6,000 square feet, housing up 
to four building-trade-related businesses, such as construction, electrical, heating or plumbing 
contracting, but not including excavation or septic installer. All business activities shall be confined to 
within the structure(s). (Emphasis added.)  
 
2 “Open storage of construction equipment and structures for storing such equipment” are allowed in the 
Industrial District but not the CH district. (Emphasis added.) “Storage of materials for a business, 
including but not limited to pipes, mulch, small or heavy equipment” is allowed both in the Industrial and 
CH Districts. 

https://ecode360.com/8165892#8165892


3 
 

Infrastructure 
 The proposed development has received a Stormwater Management Permit.  The 

approved stormwater management system is consistent with stormwater management 
standards under site plan review.   

 In addition to stormwater management, the proposed development shares infrastructure 
and improvements with the development proposed on abutting Lot 1 (pending case PB24-
4): access and driveways; landscaping; signage; bike rack; dumpsters; and parking. 
 

Landscaping 
 The application states that there is a proposed evergreen buffer along the western 

property line with the abutting town property (Eddy School).  This is not shown or 
referenced on the landscape plan but should be. 

 There are infill plantings proposed within the area of the former curbcut to be abandoned 
(which is north of the new proposed curbcut).   

 The landscape plan includes restoration planting of the wetlands buffer, as reviewed and 
approved by the Conservation Commission. 

 The landscape plan uses native species or species appropriate to the area and context. It 
appears that in addition to the existing vegetation, the proposed plantings would create a 
continuous buffer along Underpass Road; the Board should confirm the sufficiency of 
this buffer. 

 The proposed lawn areas should be confirmed as turf-type tall fescue. 
 The landscape details sheet in the site plan set should be revised to recognize that the 

water quality swale will be planted with shrubs, not turf, thus reference to loam and seed 
should be revised. 
 

Building Design 
 Two master signs are proposed, both on ‘Lot 1,’ presumably to serve both Lot 1 and Lot 

2/3.  The Building Commissioner is the master sign permitting authority.  Depending on 
their proposed size, the master signs may require a special permit from the Planning 
Board. 

 The application generally states the exterior building finishes.  The Board might want 
more specific details on materials.  

 The lighting fixtures selected can be ordered as “fully shielded, full cut-off.”  Any 
approval should condition the lighting to be fully shielded and full cut-off. 
 

Parking 
 The Zoning Bylaw allows the Board through site plan review to waive or modify parking 

and drive aisle width requirements (including parking space setbacks and number of 
spaces), especially useful in cases where parking and access is to be shared.   The 
proposal requests and relies on such flexibility for parking setbacks and driveway width.  
See Zoning Bylaw Sections 179-23A and 179-66(B) & (D).  

 The proposed number of shared spaces proposed between the two abutting developments 
(55) is consistent with the Board’s parking policy (September 11, 2013), as calculated in 
the site plan set. 

 It appears that parking is curbed, so no wheel stops are necessary. 
 All units will have overhead doors, which is sufficient for required loading zones. 



4 
 

 
Traffic/ Access 

 The applicant’s engineer has met with the Fire Chief to confirm adequate site access and 
circulation for emergency service vehicles (see ‘swept path analysis’ in site plan set). 

 The Applicant provided a transportation assessment by VHB for the proposed 
developments, including trip generation, level of service, crash data and sight line 
analyses.  It concludes that the proposed access drive is located in the safest possible 
location and has sufficient sight lines; there is not a crash history in the area of locus; and 
that the resulting level of service in the roadways under proposed development conditions 
remains acceptable.   

 Trip reduction measures are proposed to mitigate new trip generation.  For trip reduction 
measures, the Applicant is proposing a travel demand management (TDM) program, 
which would, as a condition of any approval, be implemented onsite amongst the various 
tenants/ users when the project is completed and buildings occupied.   

 The TDM program would include a proposed sidewalk on-site along Underpass Road, 
along with a crosswalk, to connect with the sidewalk system along the east side of the 
road.  The proposed new site access drive and crosswalk is towards the southern end of 
the property, in proximity to the new curb cut/ access drive.  A bike rack is also proposed 
on the restaurant patio.  The TDM program should take note that the CCRTA has a fixed 
route along Underpass Road, with a stop only a short distance to the south of the property 
at the intersection of Snow Road and Underpass Road.  

 The Board might want to consider how many bike rack spaces should be provided, as 
they will serve both proposed developments.   

 The site dumpsters are shared, located on Lot 2/3, and access to them appears adequate.   
 A curbcut/ driveway permit will be required from DPW; construction access and 

activities (including the proposed sidewalk and crosswalk on Underpass Road) should be 
coordinated with DPW prior to any commencement of work.  
 



















































(10) Virginia Rose

(3) Eastern Red Cedar

(1) Tupelo

(10) Highbush Blueberry

Summersweet Clethra (9)

ex. tupelo to remain

ex. tupelo to remain
Arrowwood (5)

Cut vines at ground level
within shaded area

Lawn

Lawn

Ex. hickory
to remain

Lawn

Seed disturbed areas
w/ fescue seed mix

ex. vegetation
to remain

Allee Lacebark Elm (1)

Allee Lacebark Elm (1)

Allee Lacebark Elm (1)

Heritage River Birch (1)

(1) Snow Queen Oakleaf Hydrangea
(5) Dense Inkberry Holly

U
N

DERPASS RO
AD

50' PU
BLIC W

AY

DRILL HOLE
FND

CB
FND

Edge of Wetland

Existing Rock W
all

Edge of Pavem
ent

Isolated Vegetated
Wetland

68

68
66

66

64

64

62

62

60

60

58

58

56

56

54

52

52

50

50

48

70

70

72

72

46

48

50

54

49

56 58

54
56

EXISTING
BUILDING

PROPOSED 100' x 50'
5 - COMMERCIAL BAYS

ONE(1) - 2 BEDROOM APARTMENT
SLAB FOUNDATION EL=60.0

71x0

HP

HP
HP

58

4
SP

46

50' Buffer
Zone

100' Buffer
Zone

50' BufferZone

100' Buffer
Zone

22'x20'APARTMENT

11
SP

PROPOSED SIGN

20' UTILITY EASEMENT
TOWN OF BREWSTER

PROPOSED 52' x 32' x 6' LEACHING
GALLEY FOR STORMWATER DISPOSAL.

DMH

GRAVEL SURFACE

GRAVEL SURFACE

Existing Paved Parking Area

DMH

DMH

10' WIDE SIDEWALK - EL=60.5

PROPOSED SIGN

HP

HP

Isolated Vegetated
Wetland

Existing Culvert

Existing Paved Driveway

Existing Gravel Driveway

21
SP

12
SP

12
SP

16" Dead Oak

16" Dead Pine

14" Dead Pine

70

68

66

64

62
71x072

Stockade Fence

Green Giant Arborvitae (3)

Steeds Japanese Holly (3)

St. John`s Wort (1)

QTY BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME SIZE

NATIVE TREES
3 Juniperus virginiana Eastern Red Cedar 4-5`
1 Nyssa sylvatica Tupelo 15 gal

NATIVE SHRUBS
9 Clethra alnifolia Summersweet Clethra 3 gal
10 Rosa virginiana Virginia Rose 2 gal
10 Vaccinium corymbosum Highbush Blueberry 3 gal
5 Viburnum dentatum Arrowwood 3 gal

PLANT SCHEDULE MITIGATION

QTY BOTANICAL NAME COMMON NAME SIZE

TREES
1 Betula nigra `Heritage` Heritage River Birch 8-10` clump
3 Ulmus parvifolia `Allee` Allee Lacebark Elm 2.5-3" cal.

CONIFERS
3 Thuja standishii x plicata `Green Giant` Green Giant Arborvitae 4-5`

SHRUBS
1 Hydrangea quercifolia `Snow Queen` Snow Queen Oakleaf Hydrangea 5 gal
1 Hypericum patulum `Hidcote` St. John`s Wort 3 gal
3 Ilex crenata `Steeds` Steeds Japanese Holly 7 gal
5 Ilex glabra `Densa` Dense Inkberry Holly 5 gal

PLANT SCHEDULE LOT2 LANDSCAPE

162 Underpass, LLC

Landscape/Mitigation

Lot #2 @162 Underpass Rd., Brewster
By: Philip L. Cheney  508-394-1373

Scale: 1" = 30'-0"  12/20/2024

AutoCAD SHX Text
46.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
47.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
48.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
48.5

AutoCAD SHX Text
48.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
48.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
48.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
48.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
50.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
50.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
47.4

AutoCAD SHX Text
48.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
46.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
46.9

AutoCAD SHX Text
46.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
46.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
50.3

AutoCAD SHX Text
48.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
49.2

AutoCAD SHX Text
59.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
60.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
63.7

AutoCAD SHX Text
68.4



DRAFT MEETING MINUTES  
DATED MARCH 27, 2024 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 
PB Minutes 03/27/24                               Page 1 of 2 

 

Brewster Planning Board 

2198 Main Street 

Brewster, MA 02631-1898 

(508) 896-3701 x1133 
brewplan@brewster-ma.gov 

MEETING MINUTES 
Wednesday, March 27, 2024 at 6:30 pm 

 Brewster Town Office Building  
 

Chair Amanda Bebrin convened a meeting of the Planning Board at 6:31 pm with the following members participating: 
Charlotte Degen, Tony Freitas, Rob Michaels, Elizabeth Taylor, and Alex Wentworth.  Madalyn Hillis-Dineen was not 
present. Also participating: Jon Idman, Town Planner, and Lynn St. Cyr, Senior Department Assistant.  Bebrin declared 
that a quorum of the Planning Board was present.  The Meeting Participation Statement and Recording Statement were 
read. 
 
6:32 PM PUBLIC ANNOUNCEMENTS AND COMMENT 
None. 
 
6:33 PM PUBLIC HEARING 
Special Permit and Site Plan Review Case No. 2024-04: Applicant/Owner: The Free Sea Turtle, LLC, Paul Wallace, 
Manager, has applied for Site Plan Review under Brewster Zoning Bylaw Article XII for a new commercial development 
on an undeveloped lot, and a Special Permit under Brewster Zoning Bylaw Section 179-51 for uses including building and 
construction trade shop or garage and a full-service restaurant, at 162 Underpass Road (Tax Map 77 Parcel 9) located 
within the Commercial High Density (CH) Zoning District.  
Documents: 

 03/21/24 Request to Continue  
 
Motion by Degen to Open Public Hearing on Special Permit and Site Plan Review Case No. 2024-04.  Second by 
Michaels.  Vote: 6-0-0. Idman stated that an application has been filed but the Applicant has asked to revise the 
application and is requesting a continuance so he may submit a revised application. Motion by Michaels to Continue 
Special Permit and Site Plan Review Case No. 2024-04 to April 10, 2024.  Second by Degen.  Vote 6-0-0. 
 
6:36 PM  PUBLIC HEARING  
Special Permit and Site Plan Review Case No. 2024-05: Applicant/Owner: 162 Underpass LLC, Charles Whitcomb  III, 
Manager, has applied for Site Plan Review under Brewster Zoning Bylaw Article XII for a new commercial development 
on an undeveloped lot, and a Special Permit under Brewster Zoning Bylaw Section 179-51 for uses including building and 
construction trade shop or garage and (1) accessory commercial  dwelling unit, at Underpass Road (Tax Map 77 Parcel 
10 and 60) located within the Commercial High Density (CH) Zoning District.   
Documents: 

 03/21/24 Request to Continue  
 
Motion by Degen to Open Public Hearing on Special Permit and Site Plan Review Case No. 2024-05.  Second by 
Wentworth.  Vote: 6-0-0. The Planning Board discussed the format for the public hearing as Case Nos. 2024-04 and 
2024-05 share infrastructure, access, landscaping, and parking.  Idman explained that the applications and public 
hearings are separate and each application should be considered on its own merits.  Idman further stated that since the 
applications share infrastructure and other elements and because the Applicants are using the same engineer, there 
may be discussion on both applications at the same time.  Motion by Michaels to Continue Special Permit and Site Plan 
Review Case No. 2024-05 to April 10, 2024.  Second by Wentworth.  Vote 6-0-0. 
 

Approved:  

Vote:  



 

 
PB Minutes 03/27/24                               Page 2 of 2 

 

6:40 PM APPROVAL OF MEETING MINUTES 
Approval of Meeting Minutes:  March 13, 2024. 
The Board reviewed the March 13, 2024 meeting minutes.  Motion by Degen to Approve March 13, 2024 Meeting 
Minutes.  Second by Wentworth. Vote: 6-0-0. 
 
6:41 PM COMMITTEE REPORTS 
Freitas summarized a recent joint meeting of the Affordable Housing Trust and Housing Partnership including an update 
on the sale of the Yankee Drive property.  There was also discussion on future housing opportunities and options.  
Freitas also mentioned the upcoming book program through the Brewster Ladies Library which will have a segment on 
housing.  He suggested Planning Board members read “Arbitrary Lines” which is a book on the recommended reading 
list. Bebrin mentioned an upcoming Housing 101 session that would be offered through the Housing Office. 
 
Degen summarized the March 11th Select Board Meeting including approval of a liquor license for a mini golf venue 
which may be the only mini golf venue with a liquor license in the area; upcoming tours of the Bay and Pond properties; 
the Brewster Ladies Library community reading program; a salary scale for part time and seasonal employees; 
Community Preservation Act funds up for vote at Spring Town Meeting; the Senior and Veteran Tax Work Off Program; 
an Interim Access Policy for the Brewster Pond property; and appointment of alternate committee members. 
 
Taylor stated that the Community Preservation Committee met to discuss warrant articles for the Spring Town Meeting 
and their project list. 
 
Bebrin mentioned the upcoming tours planned for the Sea Camps properties and noted that registration is required for 
the Pond Property due to limited parking on site.  There will be shuttles available from Captains Golf Course for those 
interested in attending the tours on April 6th and April 10th.  The Bay Property will be open for tours on April 17th and 
April 27th.  There will be two separate warrant articles at Spring Town Meeting one related to the Pond Property and one 
related to the Bay Property. 
 
6:53 PM FOR YOUR INFORMATION 
The Planning Board received mail regarding a proposed seasonal dock at 104 Canoe Pond Drive.  Idman noted that 
under Chapter 91, the Planning Board is required to receive notice of the license application.  A public hearing notice 
from the Harwich Planning Board for April 9, 2024 was also received. 
 
6:53 PM MATTERS NOT REASONABLY ANTICIPATED BY THE CHAIR 
None. 
 
Motion by Wentworth to Adjourn.  Second by Degen.   Vote: 6-0-0.  The meeting adjourned at 6:54 PM.  
 
Next Planning Board Meeting Date: April 10, 2024. 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
__________________________________________ 
Lynn St. Cyr, Senior Department Assistant, Planning 



FOR YOUR INFORMATION 

 

 

 

 

 




	Agenda 04/10/24
	SP and SPR 2024-04 & 2024-05 Shared Documents
	SP and SPR 2024-04
	SP and SPR 2024-05
	Draft Meeting Minutes dated 03/27/24
	For Your Information

	Catalog Number 3: 
	Notes 3: 
	Type 3: 
	Color Temp 6: 
	Distribution 6: 
	Voltage 6: 
	Mounting 7: 
	Mounting 8: 
	Control Options 6: 
	Control Options 7: 


